Cost-Utility Analysis of Direct-Acting Antiviral Agents in Treatment-Naïve Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Genotype 1 Infection

A retrospective cost-utility analysis in Norwegian setting



Liudmila Shitik

Master thesis

Department of Health Management and Health Economics

UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

May 2018

© Liudmila Shitik

2018

Cost-utility analysis of direct-acting antiviral agents in treatment-naive patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection

Author

http://www.duo.uio.no/

Print: Reprosentralen, Universitetet i Oslo

Abstract

Background: The new regimens for hepatitis C authorized in Norway have increased sustained virologic response, give no side effects, resulting in lower transmission rate, reduced mortality and higher quality of life for the most vulnerable categories of people. But the new treatment is also connected with extremely high costs.

Aim: To compare cost-utility of two types of treatment of treatment-naïve genotype 1 HCV mono-infected patients: newly invented direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs) Elbasvir/Grazoprevir and Ledipasvir/Sofosbuvir with old standard treatment with Pegylated-Interferon alfa 2a/Ribavirin. The analysis will be made from payer perspective.

Methods: A Markov model was developed to simulate the disease progression with qualityadjusted life years (QALY) gains and costs per QALY as an outcome derived from treatment with DAAs over a lifetime time horizon. The target population was the treatment-naïve patients infected with chronic HCV genotype 1, baseline virus RNA <6 million IU/mL and absence of NS5A resistance. The primary outcome was the ICUR (incremental cost-utility ratio) for LDV/SOF and EBR/GRZ versus PEG-IFN/RBV treatment. Costs are considered from the payer perspective. The study includes deterministic analysis. Sensitivity analysis is performed to check the robustness of the model. Transition probabilities, utilities and costs were obtained from the literature. To catch the possible uncertainty of the model, a probabilistic sensitivity analysis was conducted. The expected value of perfect information (EVPI) is to be calculated. The results will be analyzed from the point of view of the budget impact analysis (BIA). Results: The incremental cost per patient of EBR/GRZ is 786 207 NOK, cost of LDV/SOF -920 785 NOK. The incremental effect for EBR/GRZ - 1.098 QALYs, for LDV/SOF - 1.094 QALYs. The incremental cost-utility ratio (ICUR) of 716 158 NOK - for EBR/GRZ and 841 727 NOK – for LDV/SOF per additional QALY gained basing on the old prices before rebate. EVPI and BIA demonstrated even more favorable results

Conclusion: The treatment strategies with Zepatier (GRZ/EBR) and Harvoni (LDV/SOF) are cost-effective if willingness-to-pay (WTP) threshold is assumed to be 700 000 NOK and higher. The rebated prices will improve the cost-effectiveness of new regimens. Though, additional research is still required to diminish the uncertainties of the results.

V

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor, associate professor Knut Reidar Wangen for helping me with this study. His guidance, suggestions and knowledge made a significant contribution for this study.

I would like to thank Olav Dalgaard, associate professor at the Akershus University Hospital, for provided data, expert opinion on all issues during the writing this study.

All professors and department for providing valuable knowledge and experience over the past two years.

I would like to thank my family for their help and support through this study process.

Liudmila Shitik

May 2018

List of abbreviations

AASLD	The American association for study of liver disease
BIA	Budget Impact Analysis
CEA	Cost-Effectiveness Analysis
CEAC	Cost-Effectiveness Acceptability Curve
CEAF	Cost-Effectiveness Acceptability Frontier
СНС	Chronic Hepatitis C
DAA	Direct Acting Antiviral
DC	Decompensated Cirrhosis
DRG	Diagnosis-Related Group
EASL	European Association for the Study of the Liver
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EVPI	Expected Value of Perfect Information
F0	No Fibrosis
F1	Mild Fibrosis
F2	Moderate Fibrosis
F3	Severe Fibrosis
F4	Compensated Cirrhosis
GP	General Practitioner
НСС	Hepatocellular Carcinoma
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
VIII	

HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
НТА	Health Technology Assessment
HQoL	Health-related Quality of Life
ICER	Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio
ICUR	Incremental Cost-Utility Ratio
LIS	Drug Procurement Cooperation [Legemiddelinnkjøpssamarbeid]
LT	Liver Transplantation
LYG	Life Year Gained
MDC	Major Diagnosis Category
MEPS	Medical Expenditure Panel Survey
MSIS	Norwegian Surveillance System of Communicable Diseases
NICE	National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence
NIPH	Norwegian Institute of Public Health
NoMA	The Norwegian Medicines Agency
pegIFN	Pegylated Interferon
PI	Protease Inhibitor
PSA	Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis
PWID	Patients Who Inject Drugs
QALY	Quality-adjusted Life Year
QoL	Quality of Life
RAV	Resistance-Associated Variants

RBV	Ribavirin
RCT	Randomized Clinical Trial
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
SG	Standard Gamble
SVR	Sustained Virologic Response
ТТО	Time-Trade-Off
USFDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
VAS	Visual Analog Scale
WHO	World Health Organization
WTP	Willingness-To-Pay

Table of Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
2	Bac	kground	4
	2.1	Natural history of HCV infections	4
	2.2	Epidemiology	5
	2.3	Testing and Treatment of HCV	6
	2.4	HCV in the Norwegian health care system	10
	2.5	Existing economic evaluations of HCV treatment	12
3	Me	thods and materials	14
	3.1	Comparators	14
	3.2	Population	14
	3.3	Model overview	16
	3.4	Setting and perspective	19
	3.5	Half-cycle correction	20
	3.6	Time horizon	20
	3.7	Discount rate	20
	3.8	Health outcomes	21
	3.9	Cost-utility analysis	21
	3.10	Sensitivity analysis	23
	3.10	0.1 Deterministic sensitivity analysis	23
	3.10	0.2 Probabilistic sensitivity analysis	23
	3.10	0.3 Expected Value of Perfect Information	25
	3.11	Budget Impact Analysis	25
4	Inp	ut and material	27
	4.1	Transition probabilities	27
	4.2	Health outcomes. Measurement and valuation	27
	4.3	Age-specific parameters	29
	4.4	The costs associated with treatment of the chronic HCV	30
5	Res	sults	34

	5.1	Cost-effectiveness of treatment with DAAs vs. pegIFN/RBV	.34
	5.2	Budget Impact Analysis	40
	5.3	One-way sensitivity analysis	.43
6	Dis	cussion and limitations	45
7	Co	nclusion	50
R	eferend	ces	52
A	ppendi	ices	59

List of Tables

Table 1. Scoring Systems for Histologic Stage (Fibrosis) 6
Table 2. Utility weights of health states associated with chronic HCV
Table 3. Age-specific baseline utilities 29
Table 4. Age-specific all-cause death rates and probabilities 30
Table 5. Annual costs per stage of liver disease caused by the chronic HCV infection, by
treatment strategy (NOK, per patient)
Table 6. Results of deterministic analysis of HCV treatment. Life-time outcomes of the old
standard treatment and DAAs (per patient)
Table 7. Results of probabilistic sensitivity analysis (per patient)
Table 8. Impact on the NHS of the use of EBR/GRZ for the treatment of HCV genotype 1
infected patients (treatment is initiated at fibrosis stages F2-F4 for base case price), million
NOK
Table 9. Impact on the NHS of the use of EBR/GRZ for the treatment of HCV genotype 1
infected patients (treatment is initiated at fibrosis stages F2-F4 for 40%-rebated price), million
NOK
Table 10. Impact on the Norwegian Health System of the use of EBR/GRZ for the treatment
of HCV genotype 1 infected patients if therapy initiated at stages METAVIR F2-F443

List of figures

Figure 1 State transition diagram for chronic HCV and liver disease model (treatment with	
DAAs)	17
Figure 2. Cost-effectiveness plane for QALYs EBR/GRZ	36
Figure 3. Cost-effectiveness plane for QALYs LDV/SOF	36
Figure 4. CEAC of QALYs EBR/GRZ	37
Figure 5. CEAC for QALY LDV/SOF	37
Figure 6. CEAC of QALYs for different prices of EBR/GRZ	38
Figure 7. Expected value of perfect information QALYs of EBR/GRZ	39
Figure 8. Expected value of perfect information QALYs LDV/SOF	39
Figure 9. Expected value of perfect information QALYs for different prices of EBR/GRZ	40
Figure 10. Results of one-way sensitivity analysis for QALYs EBR/GRZ	44
Figure 11. Results of one-way sensitivity analysis for QALYs LDV/SOF	44

1 Introduction

Hepatitis C is a form of transmittable liver inflammation caused by the hepatitis C virus (HCV). It is difficult for the immune system to detect and eliminate the virus, and it causes chronic infection in 4 out of 5 (80%) infected. There is no vaccine against the virus. It may take many years after you have been infected until the disease is detected. Untreated chronic HCV can lead to severe consequences for health like liver cirrhosis, liver cancer (hepatocellular carcinoma) that drastically impact the life longevity and quality of life (QoL).

World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 170 (85 million is more trustworthy by the expert opinion) million people globally are infected. [1] Thus, chronic HCV infection is a global health problem. It has been referred to as the silent epidemic that causes death, morbidity and resource utilization.

In Norway, the prevalence of HCV among adults (≥ 17 y.o) is approximately 0.5% that means that $20\ 000 - 30\ 000$ (around 26 000), many of which have cirrhosis or are at risk of developing liver cirrhosis and liver complications shortly. The most part of the HCV patients are current or previous drug abusers and immigrants. Therefore, affecting vulnerable groups of society, the problem of chronic HCV infection receives little attention from the public. Chronic HCV infection is a big health problem in Norway with serious consequences for those who are infected as older they get, the more severe liver problems they will have. In the upcoming years the steadily growing number of people will face lower quality of life if they are not treated. It is also a big social problem as there is a high risk of transmission and the bigger number of chronically HCV infected people will lead to the higher liver-related mortality rate and significant costs associated with follow-up of the liver diseases (cirrhosis, cancer, liver transplantation). The main reason of the problem is that only a few of those infected get the treatment (5% in 2012). The lack of follow-up is reasoned also because of the demanding traditional interferon-based treatment of HCV associated with long duration, significant side effects and relatively low efficacy. For these reasons most of the infected people didn't get the treatment.

The world health community is concerned about this problem. The WHO has set a global target to reduce the incidence of the HCV by 90% and the mortality rate by 65% to 2030 that is reflected in the "Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021". [1] The Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH) has stated that, based on the infectious situation and health promotion in the country, Norway should have plans even more ambitious than

WHO sets. In 2015 a national strategy for the work on Viral Liver Infections was introduced according to which the hepatitis-related deaths and the number of new cases should be 70% reduced in Norway until 2030. [2]

In 2014 a new HCV treatment was invented and authorized in many countries, including Norway. The new generation of direct-acting antiviral (DAA) agents enabled both better lives for patients who are currently infection carriers and reduced number of new infected [3-5], which was very beneficial from the clinical point of view. Though the limitations of the new treatment included high cost, the need for sophisticated laboratory tests and trained clinicians. [6-8] For example, the costs after introducing the first antivirals (boceprevir and telaprevir) almost doubled in comparison with traditional Pegylated Interferon (pegIFN)-based therapy. Later, when other DAAs were authorized and introduced, the drug costs increased tenfold in the period of 2013-2015 (www.reseptregisteret.no). That was the main reason why the Norwegian government was forced to conduct a tender on HCV drugs in 2016. From the official sources, it is known already that the rebate for some drugs are up to 50% now. [9] According to the experts, the price reduction can lead to that more HCV infected people can be cured, so the principle of equity can be reached.

The Akershus University Hospital was one of the medical organizations in Norway that introduced new DAAs in March 2014 and shifted to the new price regime in March 2017. The high clinical effects and low side effects of the new treatment were discussed above and proved by experts, whereas economic results of the DAA-based treatment in the period of March 2014 till March 2017 (corresponding 3 years of treating HCV-infected patients with new DAAs for standard price) are absent.

The main aim of this study is to conduct cost-utility analysis of the DAA-based treatment compared with old standard treatment of chronic HCV infected patients. The study will include the retrospective analysis of the cost-effectiveness of the new interferon-free treatment compared with pegIFN-based treatment in the period from March 2014 (when new treatment was authorized) till March 2017 (when the new price regime was entered). The patient-level data was collected from the profiles of patients that were cured in Akershus in the period mentioned above. The results can motivate the decision makers to initiate the treatment of chronic HCV on all stages of liver disease (including mild fibrosis) that can lead to elimination of the prevalence, mortality related to the advanced stages of liver disease and transmission. Another positive effect in case of cost-effectiveness of the new treatment can be

that more people with disease of high priority can be treated. The positive example of Norway can be useful for the medical organizations in other countries.

Chapter 2 will explain the nature of HCV as a medical condition, its natural history, consequences for health if not treated and the interventions that are the subject of economic evaluation.

Chapter 3 presents the design and scope of the analysis. It will consist of the description of the key components of the analysis, including target population, comparators, time horizon and perspective. Moreover, a more detailed explanation of the applied analysis and theoretical framework will be given.

Chapter 4 will present the input parameters used in the model are outlined, including the resources associated with interventions, probabilities, utility and disutility weights.

Chapter 5 explains the results of the cost-effectiveness analysis that will display cost and effect for each intervention, the uncertainty of the probabilities will be checked by the number of sensitivity analysis. Furthermore, the expected value of perfect information and budget impact of the new intervention will be presented.

Chapter 6 presents the main limitations of the study and discussion part on the strengths and weaknesses of the methods and made assumptions.

Chapter 7 includes the main conclusions based on the findings of the earlier study and recommendations that relate to the DAA use and reimbursement in Norway.

Appendices contain the lists of the data used in the study, including the lists of the resources associated with interventions, utility weights and probabilities.

2 Background

2.1 Natural history of HCV infections

Hepatitis is an inflammation of the liver. The condition can be self-limiting or can progress to fibrosis (scarring), cirrhosis or liver cancer. Hepatitis viruses are the most common cause of hepatitis in the world but other infections, toxic substances (e.g. alcohol, certain drugs), and autoimmune diseases can also cause hepatitis. There are five main hepatitis viruses, referred to as types A, B, C, D and E. Types B and C lead to chronic disease in hundreds of millions of people and are the most common cause of liver cirrhosis and cancer.¹

Hepatitis C is an infectious hepatitis caused by HCV and transmitted through infected blood. In most cases the transmission goes via intravenous drug injection (91% in Norway in 2013 by the Norwegian Surveillance System of Communicable Diseases, MSIS). There is also the risk of the perinatal transmission – from infected mother to her child during the pregnancy and birth, but this rate is relatively low (4-10%). Moreover, there is a small risk of transmission by sexual or blood contact.

HCV is a small encapsulated ribonucleic acid (RNA) virus that mutates rapidly and depends on the host cell to survive and multiply. They consist of a capsule enclosing the genetic material. Six different genotypes and about 30 subtypes of the virus have been identified. The Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH) admits that Genotype 1 is dominant on a worldwide basis. The genotype is important for the choice of drugs and the effect of treatment, but the course of illness is similar for all genotypes.

HCV has incubation period from 2 weeks to 6 months, whereas 80% of infected people do not develop any symptoms. It leads to that only a few are diagnosed. Following acute infection, only a small portion (15-45%) of young, healthy patients may develop a vigorous antibody and cell-mediated immune response, which leads to the spontaneous eradication of the virus [10], whereas 55-85% of those infected will develop chronic disease and face liver damage. [11, 12]

Chronic hepatitis C may lead to serious consequences for health. It involves a significant increase in the risk of liver fibrosis (four stages F0 "No fibrosis" to F4 "Compensated cirrhosis"), which in long term can lead to decompensated cirrhosis, liver cancer and liver

¹ What is Hepatitis C. WHO, 2016 (Internet) [cited October 30 2017] Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/features/qa/76/en/</u>

transplantation. [13] Factors that are unfavorable for fibrosis development is high age at date of infection, male sex, coinfection with hepatitis B virus and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), excessive alcohol consumption, diabetes mellitus and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and genotype 3 infection. [14,15] Of those with chronic HCV infection, the risk of cirrhosis is 15–30% within 20 years. [16 - 18] The risk of liver cancer (hepatocellular carcinoma, HCC) in persons with cirrhosis is approximately 2–4% per year. [19] Cirrhosis leads annually to about 170 000 deaths, whereas liver cancer caused 47 000 deaths per year in the European Union. [20] In long and severe cases, the damage to the liver is so great that the only solution is liver transplantation. It should be admitted that HCV is one of the leading causes of liver transplantation. Most often liver cancer develops in patients who have had chronic infection for over 20 years. The mortality rate among patients with liver cancer is about 4%. [21]

2.2 Epidemiology

The WHO estimates that 71 million people globally have chronic HCV infection [22]. Hepatitis C appears to be endemic in most parts of the world, although the prevalence is not evenly distributed. European and Eastern Mediterranean regions have the highest prevalence rates (2.3% and 1.5%, respectively). [23] There is considerable geographic and age variation in the incidence and prevalence of infection and of genotypes. [24, 25] The prevalence may be as high as 5% to 15% in some parts of the world, and different regions have a different risk profile and age demographics. [26]

There is a list of individuals that are highly recommended to be tested for HCV. [48] Such as: Injecting drug users; HIV positive; immigrants from high endemic areas; children born from anti-HCV positive mothers; patients with dialysis; persons that have been imprisoned, receivers of blood products before 1992 in Western Europe, North-America, Japan and Australia, and recipients of blood products any time in other than the mentioned countries. Different screening strategies have been implemented in different regions, based on the local epidemiology. Groups at higher risk of HCV infection can be identified and should be tested to prevent the transmission and the disease progress to more severe liver damage.

2.3 Testing and Treatment of HCV

The testing of chronic HCV-infection is made in both cases – to detect infection in the new patients and to test the effect of the treatment in patients that are in process of antiviral treatment. But the special attention is to be focused on the people of high risk.

There are two steps of screening and diagnosing of HCV infection. The first one is screening for anti-HCV antibodies that with serological test can identify people who have been infected with virus. In case if the test is positive for anti-HCV antibodies, a nucleic acid test for HCV ribonucleic acid (HCV-RNA test) is taken to confirm chronic infection. If negative, the test should be repeated 3-6 months after. If both HCV RNA-tests are negative, there is no chronic HCV infection, and one can assume the patient has got rid of the virus and infection-free. Further follow-up of such persons is not necessary. Those who are considered no longer infected can still tested positive for anti-HCV antibodies. [27, 28] For the patients with detected chronic HCV-infection HCV-RNA test is quantified before treatment to compare the level HCV-RNA before and after treatment to assess if virologic response is achieved. Before the treatment is initiated the HCV-genotype, IL28B genotype (strength of immune system) and liver fibrosis are evaluated as it is important for the type of the treatment, expected response and the length of the treatment.

As it was mentioned staging of HCV infection is important as it identifies patients with advanced disease, a group that requires enhanced monitoring and prioritization for treatment before the onset of decompensated cirrhosis. The stage of disease may be assessed by liver biopsy or by using a variety of non-invasive methods. METAVIR is a semi quantifying system that identifies fibroses stage via biopsy (Table 1). Though liver elastography (Transient elastography (TE) via FibroScan®) is considered as a good non-invasive alternative, liver biopsies remain the gold-standard method of assessing the extent of liver damage of patients with HCV. [29]

Comparative Scoring Systems for Histologic Stage (Fibrosis)			
Score	IASL	Batts-Ludwig	Metavir
0	No fibrosis	No fibrosis	No fibrosis
1	Mild fibrosis	Fibrous portal expansion	Periportal fibrotic expansion
2	Moderate fibrosis	Rare brifges or septae	Periportal septae (>1 septum)
3	Severe fibrosis	Numerous bridges or septae	Portal-central septae
4	Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis

Table 1. Scoring Systems for Histologic Stage (Fibrosis)

Cox-

North P, Shuhart M. Evaluation and Staging of Liver Fibrosis. Hepatitis C Online. 2015. Available from: https://www.hepatitisc.uw.edu/go/evaluation-staging-monitoring/evaluation-staging/core-concept/all Patients with positive HCV-RNA test results made with 6-month interval are considered to develop chronic HCV. All patients with chronic HCV infection must be proposed with treatment as they are in danger to develop cirrhosis with corresponding complications and, therefore, should be treated. The aim of medical treatment of chronic HCV infection is to cure hepatitis C, prevent liver disease progression, liver cancer development, and HCV transmission.

Prioritized treatment of the patients that can transmit others is one of the prerequisites of the international target concerning epidemic control and elimination of HCV. There is an exhaustive theoretical data on cost-effectiveness of treatment of patient groups that are highly risky for spread of infection and that it will result reduced incidence and prevalence of HCV, but there is a lack of empirical evidence. Though some of the treated people can be re-infected, it is still very important to consider the transmission-preventing effect while the person is virusfree.

The most important predictor of response to treatment has been the virus genotype. Surrogate markers identify successful treatment relate to sustained virologic response (SVR) [30, 31] and is generally associated with normalization of liver enzymes and improvement or disappearance of liver necroinflammation and fibrosis in patients without cirrhosis. The infection is cured in more than 99% of patients who achieve an SVR. Patients with SVR without cirrhosis are considered treated and do not need further treatment or follow-up. Patients with severe liver disease remain at risk of life-threatening complications; however, hepatic fibrosis may regress and the risk of complications such as hepatic failure and portal hypertension is reduced. [32]

HCV was firstly identified in 1989 as the cause of all cases previously called as non-A/non-B hepatitis. In the beginning the treatment included Pegylated-interferon- α (pegIFN) only, whereas Ribavirin (RBV) was introduced much later in the end of 90s. [33] From that time till 2011 the traditional treatment of HCV in many countries, including Norway, consisted of antiviral therapy based on the use of combination of pegIFN and RBV. [34, 35] Interferonalpha is a cytokine released by host cells in the presence of a pathogen. When administered by subcutaneous injection, it inhibited the replication of HCV and modulated the immune response against liver cells infected with HCV. [36] The addition of ribavirin (RBV), which is a nucleoside inhibitor with an unclear mechanism of action against HCV, increased cure rates. The addition of polyethylene glycol to the interferon, through a process known as pegylation, extends the half-life of interferon. The combination of pegIFN and RBV resulted in a longer period of treatment (12 months against 6 months earlier) and higher number of patients (40% against 6% earlier) that achieve SVR. In 2001 a new pegylated interferon was used in treatment of chronic HCV. From that time the therapy consisted of pegINF/RBV led to increase of SVR rate up to 50%. [37] The problem of the traditional treatment was that it is long-lasting (24-48 weeks), gives limited likelihood of being cured, is cumbersome in use (injection), many patients face severe side effects and only small part of them can get permanent virus free.

After approval of the protease inhibitors (PIs) boceprevir and telaprevir in addition to pegIFN/RBV in 2011, SVR increased as long as the profile of unfavorable side effects and high acquisition costs. This treatment scenario has been established for both treatment-naïve and treatment-experienced patients, but only for HCV genotype 1 infection. [38-41] From 2011 till March 2014 all HCV patients in Norway were treated according to the guidelines compiled in 2011. [12], but were adjusted after authorization of telaprevir and boceprevir.

In March 2014 a new generation of pegIFN-free treatment regimens based on combination of DAAs were authorized in Norway that led to the change of the Norwegian guidelines of treatment of HCV patients in part of the patient prioritization and the drugs and drug combinations to treat. The new drugs demonstrated high curing rates (SVR≥90%), much fewer side effects, shorter treatment duration, but the costs increased significantly comparing with traditional therapy. Sofosbuvir (SOF), one of the first oral DAAs, approved by U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicines Agency (EMA), is nucleotide analogue inhibitor of the NS5B polymerase protein that was associated with shorter treatment courses (8-12 weeks), acceptable side effects, easy-to-register regimens, absence of resistance-associated mutations evidenced in virologic failure and pan-genotypic activity.

After 2014 new DAAs were gradually coming on the Norwegian market. According to the Norwegian Prescription Database (www.legemiddelhandboka.no), the following drugs and combinations can be currently in use: ribavirin, boceprevir, simeprevir (Olysio), daclatasvir (Daklinza), sofosbuvir (Sovaldi), ledipasvir and sofosbuvir (Harvoni), dasabuvir/ombitasvir/ paritaprevir/ritonavir (Viekirax/Exviera) and peginterferon alpha-2a. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have reported differences in efficacy between drugs, combinations of drugs and treatment durations, as summarized in a recent health technology assessment (HTA) report [42]. Particular DAA regimens can be effective and prescribed for particular genotype(s) independently or in combination with RBV and pegIFN.

According to the Norwegian guidelines of treatment of HCV infected adults the therapy to be chosen depends on the age, virus genotype and stage of fibrosis. The drugs that are considered as the most appropriate treatment of the HCV-infected treatment-naïve GT 1 patients are Ledipasvir/Sofosbuvir (LDV/SOF, Harvoni) and Elbasvir/Grazoprevir (EBR/GRZ, Zepatier). Both drugs are used independently once daily for 12 weeks.

The main goal of this study is to evaluate the cost-utility of two treatment approaches – the traditional pegIFN-based treatment and new DAA-based treatment, to be more precise the analysis will include the comparison of cost-utility of DAAs - LDV/SOF (with 12 weeks-therapy) and EBR/GRZ (12 weeks) – with old standard pegIFN/RBV-based therapy (48 weeks). The inputs of clinical efficacy of the drugs were derived from the available clinical trials.

LDV is available in combination with SOF and sold under the trade name "Harvoni". LDV/SOF (Harvoni©) is administrated in tablets (LDV 90 mg/SOF 400 mg). The treatmentnaïve chronic HCV-infected GT 1 patients are prescribed with 1 tablet per day for 12 weeks. The drug was tested during 8 weeks with and without and 12 weeks without RBV among treatment-naïve GT 1 patients without cirrhosis. SVR rate in all three arms was between 93% and 95%. [43] In one another study of LDV/SOF SVR rate in GT 1 patients was 97% (12 weeks) and 99% (24 weeks). [44] The SVR rate among cirrhotic patients is even slightly higher. In my study I used the 95,3% (88,6%-98,7%) SVR rate for LDV/SOF 12 for non-cirrhotic and 98,6% (92,4%-100%) - for cirrhotic patients.

Elbasvir/grazoprevir (EBR/GZR), under the trade name Zepatier©, is a single oral fixed-dose combination (FDC) tablet taken once daily for 12 weeks. Zepatier is administrated in pills with dosage EBR (protease inhibitor NS3/4A) 50 mg and GRZ (protease inhibitor NS5A) 100 mg. This submission considers EBR/GZR for use in patients diagnosed with HCV GT1 (1a and 1b) or GT4 infections, irrespective of treatment experience or cirrhosis stage. Therefore, EBR/GZR is expected to displace a level of use for those technologies, previously recommended by National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), relevant to the GT (subtypes) considered within this submission.

The efficacy (SVR12) and safety of EBR/GZR has been evaluated in eight clinical trials. This consists of five phase III, one phase II/III, and two phase II trials, in which patients were randomized (n=7 trials) to receive EBR/GZR for 12 weeks. The pooled SVR12 results demonstrate that EBR/GZR is a highly efficacious treatment option for all patient groups irrespective of treatment experience or cirrhosis state. [45] For example, one of the clinical trials which outcome measures were used for analysis was C-Edge Co-Star. The efficacy rate

was based on the percentage of patients achieving SVR12 after study therapy. According to the results, in 95.5% (91.5 to 97.9, CI 95%) of patients SVR12 was achieved. [96] The SVR rate of EBR/GRZ among treatment-naïve patients with/without cirrhosis used in the study is 98% (0.962-0.991) that is an average among the efficacy rates derived from the available clinical trials.

The efficacy of the pegIFN/RBV in patients with genotype 1 is lower than in patients with another genotypes of HCV infection. The SVR rate of pegIFN/RBV is assumed to be 47% (42.3 - 51.7) in population of patients observed.

2.4 HCV in the Norwegian health care system

According to the official sources the prevalence of anti-HCV among adults in Norway is around 0.5% [46], still the highest among those born in the fifties and sixties (1.6%) and lowest among those born before 1940 (< 0.2%). This means that officially there are an estimated 26 000 - 28 000 people in Norway who have been infected with the hepatitis C virus. In the study by Tollefsen et al., the official prevalence of chronic HCV can be overestimated, as about 40% of infected people are not diagnosed. It may be also assumed that the prevalence is too high and that the actual number of infected patients is around 16 500 people. [47] Moreover, the Norwegian Health Institute reported that around 11 000 – 17 000 people are HCV-infected and may need treatment. [48] In the treatment guidelines of hepatitis C from March 2014, it is stated that the number of people with chronic hepatitis C is about 20 000. [49] Around 83% of new cases of HCV reported by MSIS (Norwegian Surveillance System for Communicable Diseases) were reported to be infected by injection. In Norway those who are infected are mainly current or previously injecting drug users and immigrants, and the disease therefore receives little attention from the public [46], but all persons with such experience should be investigated. According to the NIPH around 41% of HCV cases are represented by the genotype 3, 44% - genotype 1, the rest – by genotypes 2,4, 5, 6. [50] Genotype 3 is the most difficult genotype to treat in Norway. Genotypes 2 and 3 are the most commonly seen among drug users.

All confirmed positive anti-HCV and/or HCV-RNA (hepatitis C virus ribonucleic acid) are reported to be registered by the Norwegian Surveillance System for Communicable Diseases (MSIS), run by the National Institute of Public Health. In MSIS, it is not distinguished between newly infected and cases previously infected, but first discovered afterwards. Therefore, all cases reported are not cases of newly infected. There are no exact figures on how

many people are infected with hepatitis C in Norway each year. The number of cirrhotic patients is around 134 per million of residents [51] or around 680 per year, 68% of the new cirrhosis cases are caused by HCV in Norway. Liver cancer is quite rare in Norway, around 215 new cases in 2012 (Kreftregisteret, 2012) where 32% of cases are caused by HCV. [52] Chronic HCV-infection is of the causes of liver transplantation in Norway. [21] Liver transplantation is considered the only proposed treatment of the decompensated cirrhosis and/or liver cancer. [53] Though the HCV-infected patients with decompensated cirrhosis are treated in Norway in case of a high life expectancy. Muhlberger et al. estimate that HCV is the cause of death of 150 cases in Norway in 2002. 35% of these cases are cause by liver cancer, and 60% - by cirrhosis, whereas HCV caused 35% of the cirrhosis-deaths and 32% of liver cancer deaths in 2002. [52]

The problem of HCV in Norway is that only 1 from 5 (20%) of chronically HCV infected could get the primary help or the specialist assistance during 2012, and even less got the drug treatment (5%). And many of those who get the drug treatment terminate the therapy at early stages of treatment and don't achieve SVR. In the light of all existing difficulties related to HCV the National Institute of Public Health of Norway has set a national strategy for the work on Viral Liver Infections that is planned to lead to the elimination of the hepatitis-related mortality and transmission until 2030.

From 1 January 2016, the regional health authorities should cover the cost of new medicines for the treatment of HCV. The costs were previously covered by the National Insurance Scheme on blue prescription (blå resept)². It is, therefore, the responsibility of the Regional Health Authorities to assess resource and treatment outcomes for this patient group against other needs in accordance with current prioritization criteria and financial framework.

Drug Procurement Cooperation or Legemiddelinnkjøpssamarbeid (LIS) [on Norwegian] formed by the health regional authorities from the members of the Norwegian Association for Infection Medicine, the Norwegian Society for Medical Microbiology and the Norwegian Gastroenterological Association aims to lay the foundation for the agreements on the purchase and delivery of the drugs, thereby reducing the costs of the patient care. The Managing Directors of the health regional authorities use the recommendations of LIS HCV specialist group as the main instructions in all health care activities related to HCV.

The situation with HCV in Norway changed a lot for the last five years. Many new drugs emerged and were authorized in Norway, so almost all chronically infected patients can be

² If you have a serious illness, the state can partially cover expenses for pharmaceuticals, food and medical supplies on blue prescription. There are also other arrangements to get covered parts of your expenses if you have large expenses. https://helsenorge.no/legemidler/blaresept

cured. Nevertheless, the high costs associated with new treatment and limited health care budget forced to follow the politics of prioritization, when the treatment can be reimbursed only for a particular category of patients with the most cost-efficient treatment option among all available on the Norwegian market. For this purpose, the general rules or guidelines for management, follow-up and treatment of chronically HCV-infected patients in Norway were submitted by the working group of the clinical experts from the number of LIS. The first version of the guidelines was published in 2014 and updated in 2017. According to these guidelines the group of HCV-infected patients should get the treatment considering efficiency, safety and price.

Therefore, all decisions concerning the allocation of national insurance resources are made basing on economic evaluation of the treatment alternatives. Those money are distributed among the treatment technologies and patient groups within the Norwegian healthcare sector. Any new drug or treatment technology cannot be authorized for usage in Norway without being analyzed from the point of view of its cost-effectiveness. Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA) is undertaken as a part of the allocation decision process for the new drugs.

2.5 Existing economic evaluations of HCV treatment

The clinical efficacy of new pegIFN/RBV-free regimens – potential anti-HCV treatment options - should be proved by studies and clinical trials to be authorized in Norway. As long as new drugs are available in clinical use, their effectiveness for the real world setting and impact on health-related quality of life is required to be assessed in frames of the economic studies. The CEA of the new IFN-free regimens for chronic HCV were made in USA and many European countries confirming the cost-effectiveness of most of the new DAAs for the chronically HCV infected patients.

In recent years the cost-effectiveness of Ledipasvir/Sofosbuvir in treating genotype 1 HCV infected patients was shown in some studies. [54-56] In the study by Younussi et al., the double therapy of SOF/LDV demonstrated the optimal short- and long-term health and economic outcomes compared with other currently used therapies across treatment- naïve and -experienced patients with different stages of fibrosis. For example, the usage LDV/SOF in treatment-naïve genotype 1 HCV infected patients resulted the lowest incidence of DC, HCC, liver transplantation and HCV-related deaths in a long-term perspective.

There is still a limited number of studies devoted to the cost-effectiveness of Elbasvir/Grazoprevir since it was authorized recently (in 2017 in most countries), but some studies have already shown its high cost-effectiveness especially in genotype 1a HCV infected patients. [57] In the study of Corman S et al., EBR/GRZ was economically dominant regimen in comparison with other DAAs, including LDV/SOF, for treating Genotype 1a non-cirrhotic and 1b cirrhotic HCV infected patients. It was cost saving in all other subpopulations.

The recent study by Wisløff T. et al. was devoted to the cost-utility analysis of all DAAs authorized in Norway and in active use in treatment of chronic HCV infection. The economic comparison was made for genotypes 1, 2 and 3 as the most prevalent in Norway. The analysis did not include EBR/GRZ as it was not still authorized at that moment. In that analysis the Markov model for people who inject drugs (PWID) was used as this category of patients gives the highest prevalence. The 12-week treatment with LDV/SOF was found as the most cost-effective option for PWID among other DAAs in Norway. [58]

But still there is a lack of sufficient assessment of the long-term clinical and economic impact of LDV/SOF and, especially, newly authorized EBR/GRZ in different subpopulations in Norwegian perspective.

3 Methods and materials

3.1 Comparators

The main aim of this study is to evaluate cost-effectiveness of DAA-based treatment of HCV infected treatment-naïve Genotype 1 patients compared with old standard therapy consisting of pegIFN/RBV. As it was mentioned above the comparison will be based on the patient-level data provided by Akershus University Hospital. Patient-level data includes the information of initial tests, therapy prescribed and the treatment result (achieved or non-achieved SVR). Three treatment scenarios were compared by modelling the process of treatment and disease progress of one cohort of 1000 patients: first model describes 12-week treatment process with EBR/GRZ, second model –12-weeks therapy with LDV/SOF and third model – 48-weeks treatment with pegIFN/RBV. The focus of the study is on period from March 2014 till March 2017 when the first DAAs were introduced in Norway and provided by producers for wholesale without rebates. Both new drugs LDV/SOF and EBR/GRZ are authorized in Norway and were compared within CEA by a very few studies.

3.2 **Population**

To accurately simulate treatment schedules and outcomes, the main characteristics of the patients should be identified as it influence the treatment selection and sometimes the disease progression. Among the characteristics that matter for the therapy to be chosen: cirrhosis status, HCV genotype, treatment history (treatment-naïve or treatment-experienced), presence of baseline NS5A resistance-associated variants (RAV) for Genotype 1a and baseline HCV RNA level (≤ 6 million or ≥ 6 million IU/mL) for treatment-naïve patients. The study includes the treatment-naïve cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic HCV-infected patients with genotype 1 with baseline HCV RNA level ≤ 6 million IU/mL. Patients with genotype 1a and 1b are not divided, therefore presence of baseline NS5A RAV for Genotype 1a was not considered. The study includes age-based all-cause mortality rate based on data from Statistics Norway.

Until March 2017 the principles of prioritization of patients were applied in HCV treatment. The decision to treat an individual patient were to be taken based on knowledge about the duration of the infection, inflammation rate, fibrosis stage, and genotype and thus the

likelihood of successful treatment. Additionally, the incidence of risk factors associated with increased likelihood of progression of fibrosis should be considered. [49] Cirrhosis develops only at 1/3 of the chronic HCV infected patients, meaning that most of the patients with absence or mild fibrosis have a good prognosis to get rid of the virus without treatment.

In the model I considered the fibrosis stage and included the data on the patients who fit the requirements of the national guidelines according to which "all treatment-naïve and treatment-experienced patients with significant fibrosis (METAVIR \geq F2 or LSM \geq 7kPa), compensated or decompensated chronic liver disease related to HCV, who are willing to be treated and who have no contraindications to treatment, must be considered for therapy. Treatment is not recommended in patients with limited life expectancy due to non-liver-related comorbidities". Thus, all patients entering the model had the liver stiffness cut off value at the level of \geq 7 kPa that corresponds moderate/advanced fibrosis or compensated cirrhosis (F2, F3 and F4).

The baseline characteristics of the patient-level data provided needed for the model are the following:

- The number of GT1 HCV infected patients is 121 that were treated in the period March 2014 – March 2017.
- The number of patients by the fibrosis stage based on the Fibroscan classification [59]:
 79 patients with METAVIR F2 (Fibroscan ≥7kPa), 18 with F3 (≥10 kPa), 24 METAVIR F4, compensated cirrhosis (≥13kPa).

As it is widely known the drug users are most often carriers of the HCV and the model should consider the details about patients who inject drugs (PWID). It is assumed that when the therapy is initiated, all patients enter the model without status of alcoholics and drug abusers. All former drug abusers are passing drug assisted rehabilitation (in Norwegian: Legemiddelassistert Rehabilitering) and their life expectancy is similar to the general public. Thus, such risk factors like alcohol consumption and drug addiction were excluded. Otherwise, it would require additional model with different transition probabilities and mortality rates. Presumably, dynamic model could catch all the risk factors in the specific patient population.

3.3 Model overview

In the analysis I used a Markov cohort state-transition model to assess the economic benefit of the DAA-based treatment with LDV/SOF and EBR/GRZ separately vs. old standard pegIFN-based therapy in patients with HCV GT1 in Norway from the payer perspective.

The study includes three models corresponding the therapies to be compared – LDV/SOF, EBR/GRZ vs. PEG-IFN. To make the results more representative, I used one cohort of 1000 patients for each treatment strategy where 650 patients entered the model with diagnosed fibrosis METAVIR stage F2, 150 – with moderate fibrosis stage F3, and 200 patients – with compensated cirrhosis, fibrosis METAVIR stage F4. The proportion used in the model partly corresponds the proportion of the patient level data (~65% of patients at stage F2, ~15% - at stage F3, ~20% - at stage F4). Moreover, the number of 1000 patients equal the number of HCV infected patients cured in Norway annually, so it is curious to evaluate the long-term health outcomes and costs of HCV treatment, though only genotype 1 HCV infected patient group was analyzed. [50]

The model simulates the natural history of chronic HCV infection by means of health states reflecting the progression of the liver disease in patients that achieve or do not achieve SVR during the prescribed therapy with DAAs or old standard treatment.

The main conceptualization of the model of chronic HCV was made by the NICE committee that was used in this study.

The model includes 13 health states using transition probabilities that reflect the progression or regression of the disease. The transition probabilities were taken from the literature and published cost-effectiveness models and reflect the probabilities of non-treatment transitioning from one health state to more severe stages.

The Figure 1 illustrates the state-transition Markov model. The structure of the model was designed to show the progression of the chronic HCV infection based on the relevant literature. A lifetime horizon (75 years) was applied with one-year cycle, and the patient can be only at one health state per cycle. The circles represent health states and the squares represent the events (death in this model).



Figure 1 State transition diagram for chronic HCV and liver disease model (treatment with DAAs)

The model consists of the following health states: No fibrosis (F0), Portal fibrosis without septa (F1), portal fibrosis with new septa (F2), portal fibrosis with numerous septa without cirrhosis (F3), compensated cirrhosis (F4), decompensated cirrhosis (DC), liver cancer or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), Liver transplant (LT), post-liver transplant or subsequent years (PLT), liver-related death (LV-death), death from all other causes (All-cause death), sustained virologic response (SVR).

Hepatic fibrosis stage is based on METAVIR fibrosis scoring system. The health states F0- correspond no fibrosis, F1 – mild fibrosis, F2– moderate fibrosis, F3 – advanced fibrosis, F4 – compensated cirrhosis, DC – compensated cirrhosis, HCC – liver cancer, LT – liver transplantation, PLT – post-liver transplantation, LV-Death – liver-related death. The more detailed clinical information about health states can be found in section 2.3. Additionally, the "All-cause death" was put in the model corresponding the background mortality.

The patient enters the model at the initiation of the treatment, receiving pegIFN/RBV, LDV/SOF or EBR/GRZ, described by a state-transition model to show the outcomes in the lifetime horizon. The patients enter the model at a fibrosis METAVIR stage (from F2 to F4) and may progress to subsequent stages of liver disease, achieve SVR (get rid of the infection) if treatment is successful, can stay in the same health state or die. Without successful treatment the transition to less severe stages is not possible. SVR is considered a cure for all non-cirrhotic patients that have no risk of reactivation of HCV infection. SVR 12 was defined as HCV RNA≤15 IU/mL and assessed 12 weeks after the completion of the therapy. Patients, that have achieved SVR, are assumed to have a life expectancy equivalent to the general population. The transition probabilities are based on the data from the literature, considering opinion of clinical experts, and statistical data (all-cause death). The model includes some assumptions that were based on the opinion of the clinical experts with expertise in treating HCV. All assumptions used in the model are consistent with previous HCV NICE submissions.

Since the likelihood that the chronically infected person can spontaneously clear of HCV is small, this health state is not included in the model. There is a risk of reinfection and the person after achieving SVR can return to the previous health state corresponding a stage of fibrosis the patient entered the model (from SVR F0-F3 to F0-F3 or SVR F4 to F4). The patients with cirrhosis after achieving SVR F4 are still at risk of progression to DC or liver cancer - HCC. [72] For this purpose, SVR state was stratified by patient's baseline fibrosis stage before treatment ("SVR, F0-F3" and "SVR, F4"). Patients who return to the chronic HCV health states can develop serious liver disease. If the patient is diagnosed with decompensated cirrhosis or liver cancer, liver transplant can be the only treatment option. The liver-related mortality is considered if the person has DC, liver cancer or transplanted. Liver-related death is attributed to liver failure or liver-related complications (DC, HCC, LT, PLT), excluding other common causes of death. The liver-related death probabilities were taken from the literature.

The age-based background mortality was considered in all health states in the model excepting liver cancer and LT as in these states the patient is supposed to be hospitalized and the likelihood of the background mortality is small. The important task was also to reflect the time-dependency of all-cause death probabilities. I assumed that probability of death changed every 10 years in the model and, therefore, added seven additional groups of death probabilities reflecting 75-year horizon._"All-cause death" and "Liver-related death" are absorbing states, meaning that there are no transition outwards from these states.

The patients that achieve DC or HCC can undergo liver transplant (LT) and those who survive after LT shift to post-LT stage with probability of liver-related death that is still higher than of the general population. I assume that LT is the only treatment option for those with DC and liver cancer, disregarding DAA-based treatment. This assumption has "pros" and "cons" in the national and international guidelines. From one side, the American association for study of liver disease (AASLD) and Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) guidelines based on the clinical trial admit that the patients with DC who receive the DAA therapy can experience improvement in clinical indicators of the liver disease [60-63], however these indicators can be insufficient to avoid liver-related death or need for liver transplantation [64], that means that not everybody can benefit from the antiviral therapy. From another side, the Norwegian professional guidelines on treatment of hepatitis C, insist that the patients with DC can be

offered with antiviral therapy (Daily-fixed dose combination of LDV/SOF (90/400 mg) with low initial dose of ribavirin (600 mg)) and should be guided by hospital departments who have experience of treatment of this patient group, but still the advanced stages of liver disease like DC is supposed to have different consequences, including high probability of HCC, LT and LV-death. For this reason, the annual transition probabilities from compensated cirrhosis to decompensated cirrhosis or liver cancer were based on the natural history of chronic HCV derived from the literature. [57]

The model assumed time-independent disease transition probabilities meaning that probability of moving between stages is independent of the time in the earlier mild state. [83]

The probability to be cured (virus-free) after treatment completed is based on the SVR (or effectiveness) rate of a drug, which can be found in the literature or clinical trials. Thus, in analysis I used SVR rate of EBR/GRZ, LDV/SOF and PEG-IFN to calculate the transition probability from F0-F3 to SVRF0-F3 and from F4 to SVRF4, corresponding the successful treatment. Equation used for converting rates into probabilities and vice versa is as follows, where p is the probability, r is the rate, and t is the period:

$$p = 1 - \exp(-r * t), \quad (1)$$

According to NICE, the SVR rate for therapy with EBR/GZR for GT1a TN NC patients is around 0.98 (0.962-0.991) based on the result of network meta-analyses results. I used the effectiveness rate of EBR/GRZ of 98%. Using equation (1), the annual probability of attaining SVR is 0.6247. The same principle approach was used to calculate transition probability from F0-F4 to SVR F0-F4 for all three strategies compared. The probabilities of SVR for LDV/SOF and pegIFN/RBV were calculated likewise.

3.4 Setting and perspective

The model-based economic evaluation follows the aim to consider the resource consumption in decisions related to healthcare. Therefore, it is important to consider all costs related to the healthcare issue. First, it is necessary to identify all the cost components that should be included into the analysis. Secondly, it is needed to quantify the use of every cost component. Afterwards, it is very important to accurately assign the identified and quantified resources. [7]

The analysis is made from the healthcare payer perspective - Norwegian regional healthcare authorities that are responsible for budgets of HCV treatment since 2016. The focus is made on the direct medical costs associated with treating chronic HCV and liver diseases,

liver transplantation, post-treatment monitoring and follow-up, costs of health outcomes, comparator treatment costs. I tried to collect the information on the costs from different sources to reflect the real situation of the Norwegian national insurance scheme.

3.5 Half-cycle correction

The transitions between health states in Markov models are modeled to occur in the beginning or at the end of the cycle, whereas in the reality the transition occur in the middle of the cycle. It can lead to the over- or underestimation of the health outcomes and costs accumulated by the model. To avoid this, the costs and the health outcomes were half-cycle corrected. [65]

3.6 Time horizon

The analysis of the thesis is based on the patient-level data collected in 3-year period. But it seems that 3-year time horizon to be inappropriate for the cost-effectiveness analysis that requires a long period of time to make the results obvious. Moreover, CHC remains a longlasting disease that can occupy years and decades before it can be diagnosed and treatment to be initiated, so a short-term horizon can be misleading and can produce bias results without measuring life-time health consequences of the intervention. Therefore, 75-year lifetime horizon is chosen for the analysis to reflect correctly the impact of the intervention.

3.7 Discount rate

75-year lifetime horizon makes it necessary to compare the future and today's value of intervention. For this purpose, it is necessary to apply a discounting rate that convert the value to cash-equivalent value on a specific reference date. The reference date normally chosen for an investment is the start date of the future costs and revenues of the project. The cash-equivalent value is in such case referred to as the net present value. Hence, discounting facilitates comparison between, and ranking of, measures with economic effects that occur at different dates.

The guidelines of the Norwegian Ministry of Finance as well as numerous CEA-based studies consider 3% an appropriate societal discount rate. Thus, 3%-discount rate was used for costs and utilities. [66]

3.8 Health outcomes

A broader measure of the benefits of treatment is utility that is used to refer to the preferences of individuals or society that they can have of any particular set of health outcomes. Utility analysis is viewed as a useful technique because it applies health-related quality of life (HRQoL) adjustments to a given set of treatment outcomes, providing a generic outcome measure for comparison of costs and outcomes in different treatment options programs. [8]

According to the recommendations of the Norwegian Medicines Agency (NoMA) the primary health outcome when conducting pharmacoeconomic analysis is quality-adjusted lifeyears (QALY). [67] QALY is a generic measure that is calculated by combining the length of life and HRQoL that is possible to use across and within treatment option. The advantage of the QALY as a measure of health outcome is that it can simultaneously capture gains from reduced morbidity (quality gains) and reduced mortality (quantity gains) and combine these into a single measure.

A particular health state has an assigned utility value - HRQoL – that reflects physical, psychological and social well-being. The main reason of using HRQoL is that it recognizes the influence of other factors than physical on QoL. HRQoL has a numerical expression between 0 and 1 where 0 represents death and 1 represents perfect health. In some situations, there are health states values less than zero, that is worse than death.

The health outcome of the analysis can also be expressed in life years gained (LYG). Usually cost-effectiveness analysis is based on the comparison of two or more alternatives that is stated on either in terms of cost per unit of effect (cost per life year gained) or in terms of effects per unit of cost (life years gained per unit of cost).

In the study I used the costs per QALY gained to present the results of CEA.

3.9 Cost-utility analysis

The base of this thesis is cost-utility analysis (CUA) which is the type of economic evaluation, usually applied to guide decision makers to allocate resources in a way that leads to the maximization of benefits received from the health intervention for a given budget constraint. CUA is often referred as a variant of CEA. The main aim of CUA is to quantify the health outcomes from intervention in QALY, generic measure of health gain. Thus, that gives an opportunity to compare the interventions from different areas of health care sector. CUA is a

useful tool for decision-makers with issue of allocating budget resources between health care interventions. [8]

The analysis is performed to compare the incremental costs per unit of effectiveness known as the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) which estimates the additional cost per QALY associated with one intervention relative to other interventions. The results will give the LYGs and QALYs gained. The results obtained will be compared by calculating ICER and will be plotted on the cost-effectiveness plane. ICER is calculated by following formula:

$ICER = \frac{Cost(DAA) - Cost(pegIFN)}{QALY (DAA) - QALY (pegIFN)} = \frac{\Delta Costs}{\Delta QALYs}, \quad (2)$

The final verdict on cost-effectiveness of the strategy will be dependent on assessment of an appropriate threshold. If the cost-effectiveness of a new intervention is estimated below the threshold value, then it can be considered as cost-efficient. The net health benefits are calculated also basing on simulations and the threshold. A net health benefit (NHB) is the health accumulated among the population analyzed assuming that cost-effectiveness threshold represents the opportunity cost of the resources invested in the healthcare interventions. [8] The positive incremental NHB represents the accumulated overall health effects of the new intervention. In case of negative NHB the positive effects of the new intervention are outweighed by the costs. Any decision to accept or to reject the intervention which offers health benefits for additional costs still imply possible values for a threshold. Hence, implicit or explicit assessment of cost-effectiveness threshold should be conducted. [8]

According to the decisions of NoMA and the Norwegian Decision Forum (Beslutningsforum for nye metoder) the costs per QALY (ICER) should be estimated by the threshold values in the range 600 000 – 700 000 NOK per QALY. [68] The Norwegian Directorate of Health suggests this threshold per QALY for 2016. Without this condition any new intervention stays under consideration. Nevertheless, there is a wide discussion around ICER and its general applicability for all diseases. Many experts imply that the value of ICER should depend on the health effects and severity of disease: as much health is lost – as higher the ICER can be. The discussion was initiated by the working group of experts headed by professor Jon Magnussen. According to this report the WTP threshold should relate to the absolute shortfall caused by the severity of the disease, where the lowest WTP threshold 275 000 NOK relates to the loss of 0 - 3.9 healthy life years during the life time and the highest WTP threshold of 825 000 NOK corresponds >20 healthy life years lost during the life time. This approach has its' strengths and weaknesses that will be discussed further. But still the role
of ICER is debated and the threshold costs of $600\ 000 - 700\ 000$ NOK per QALY is mostly considered as recommendation than a strict rule.

3.10 Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis is a tool to analyze the impact of uncertainty in CUA. The main aim of using sensitivity analysis is to assess and quantify the impact of uncertainty on the model outputs, e.g. ICERs as the results of the uncertainty in inputs, thus, to contribute to better decisions and to check if the model is working appropriately. It is also referred to a model validation. [69]

3.10.1 Deterministic sensitivity analysis

The deterministic and probabilistic types of analysis were conducted to see how the changes of some variables of interest influence the result. One-way sensitivity analysis is always performed on a variety of utility and cost parameters to see how sensitive the final result (ICER) to the small changes in the input data (parameters of interest) and if it crosses the threshold of interest.

One-way sensitivity analysis shows the changes in outputs by making changes in the value of a baseline parameters in a plausible range while other parameters stay constant. [70] That helps to identify the parameter of a high importance for the analysis without giving any quantitative indication of decision uncertainty, so there is still the risk of making a wrong decision. The model in this study is complementary, the number of the input parameters is too high to make the conduction of one-way sensitivity analysis of all parameters possible. Especially it relates to the transition probabilities.

3.10.2 Probabilistic sensitivity analysis

The probabilistic sensitivity analysis (PSA) is a recommended approach of NoMA and NICE when assessing cost-effectiveness of intervention. [67] PSA was undertaken according to the methods laid out by Briggs et al. [71] The main role of the PSA is to capture the parameter uncertainty by addressing the uncertainty in several parameters simultaneously and quantify the uncertainty surrounding the output of the model and, consequently, the decision uncertainty that the deterministic analysis is not capable to do. [69] To do this every uncertain parameter is

replaced with a distribution according to the confidence interval of the mean. Distribution types are used according to the specific characteristics of each parameter.

Beta distribution is used for rates, probabilities, QALYs, some of the resource-use measures. The main feature of beta distribution is that it was used a binominal probability parameter. It is constrained between 0 and 1, and the contingency between binominal data and binominal distribution makes it the most adequate choice in the context. Alpha is defined as the number of events observed, beta is the total number of observations minus alpha. [71] In most of the situations alpha was the number of the HCV infection events and beta was the total number of life years over which alpha was observed minus alpha.

Dirichlet distribution was used for multinomial probability parameters. To be more precise, all parts of multinomial probability are combined as a series of conditional beta distributions. [71]

Log-normal distributions are applied for the relative risks which are comprised of ratios that corresponds to confidence intervals and standard errors are calculated on the log scale. So, the log-normal distribution is the best choice. For a random draw from a normal distribution the natural logs of the point estimate and the standard error are used as alpha and beta respectively. The exponential yields a random draw based on the initial relative risk mean point estimate. [71]

Monte Carlo simulation was performed as it is usually used to estimate the distribution of the outcomes when it is impossible or impractical to determine the distribution theoretically. The model was simulated 1000 runs using the random draws for every parameter with its distribution. The results are the probabilistic output that give clearer scale of uncertainty surrounding point estimates and mean output. [71]

The outputs of PSA were recorded and used to estimate ICER, the incremental net monetary benefit (NMB) and expected value of perfect information (EVPI). The net monetary benefit (NMB) is calculated for every WTP threshold of interest (λ):

$$NMB = \lambda^* E - C, \qquad (3)$$

where E denotes the effect of the treatment (QALY) and C is the costs associated with the treatment.

The cost-effective intervention has the NMB higher than the NMB of the comparator. Afterwards it is necessary to count the number of times the NMB of the intervention is higher and, thus, cost-effective. The proportion of times when the intervention has the highest NMB identifies the probability of this intervention to be cost-effective. These probabilities can be calculated for the range of cost-effectiveness threshold values and presented as a graph or Cost-Effectiveness Acceptability Curve (CEAC). CEAC is plotted for every intervention and demonstrates which treatment alternative is cost-effective with higher probability. In contrast, the cost-effectiveness acceptability frontier (CEAF) shows the probability of cost-effectiveness of the treatment option expected to be cost-effective at every threshold value. CEAC and CEAF are used for uncertainty discussion of the cost-effective treatment option.

3.10.3 Expected Value of Perfect Information

All decisions about treatment are made in conditions of imperfect information, and there is a risk that the decision that is taken can lead to opportunity loss. In this case cost-effectiveness accessibility frontier (CEAF) shows the levels of the cost-effectiveness threshold at which the option is optimal, however, the scale of uncertainty and the consequences of not choosing the best option are ignored. To reduce the decision uncertainty expected value of perfect information (EVPI) analysis measures the magnitude of difference the true preferred and alternative decisions. [72]

EVPI analysis can be performed from the PSA results. It is used to assess the expected cost of uncertainty according to the threshold values. EVPI reflects the difference between the value of benefits when decision is made with perfect information and the value of benefits derived from a decision made with current information, or, EVPI is the expected value of maximum NMB (with perfect information) minus the maximum NMB (with current information) in each Monte Carlo iteration:

```
EVPI=E\theta Maxj NB(j,\theta) - Maxj E\theta NB(j,\theta), (4)
```

where *j* represents the comparators, and θ represents the uncertainty surrounding the decision. EVPI represents the maximum potential value of reducing uncertainty at any threshold of interest that can be considered as a measure of the opportunity loss that comes from decision making due to uncertainty. [71]

3.11 Budget Impact Analysis

The burden of chronic HCV has had a large national economic impact, the anti-HCV drugs are expensive, and the healthcare resources are insufficient to meet the requirements of current demand for treatment. Therefore, every approach focused on efficient allocation of the

resources would benefit the overall population and should be studied. The lack of treatment will lead to increase of disease burden due to HCV pathologies and related worsening of the health state of the positive patients.

Budget Impact Analysis (BIA) is a required condition for reimbursement authorities as a reimbursement submission. The main aim of BIA is to evaluate the changes in expenditures after a new intervention is adopted. The results of BIA can be used in process of planning the resource allocation along with CEA. BIA and CEA complement each other and can be freestanding or parts of a comprehensive economic assessment. [73] Administrators of national health care budgets, private insurance companies, etc. – all actors of health care system are highly interested in results of BIA to set the priorities while allocating resources. Since CHC is one of the most crucial social issues in most of the countries in the world, still it can't be solved as the treatment costs are very high and the elimination of the problem is unaffordable.

Therefore, the budgetary consequences of introducing DAAs in treatment of HCV as a part of the national reimbursement scheme were estimated to assess the potential affordability. Budget impact analysis reflects the perspective of the budget holders, using a short time horizon (observed 5 years), with the discounted treatment costs.

4 Input and material

Model inputs were derived from the literature, systematic reviews and Norwegian population-based registers. Due to the absence of the Norwegian clinical trials the data on the transition probabilities, effectiveness rates and health utilities were collected from numerous studies, assessed beforehand for its appropriateness for the Norwegian perspective. The baseline characteristics used in Markov model in this study were partly derived from the NICE report devoted to the new anti-HCV regimens, including EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF, meta-analysis and studies related to chronic HCV, its progression and treatment.

4.1 Transition probabilities

The transition probabilities were transformed basing on the age-specific all-cause death. The base case transition probabilities were adjusted to the probability of all-cause death and to sum it up to 1, and that was the main issue. For this reason, I multiplied age group-specific death probability on every transition probability and subtracted this proportional part from every transition probability and sum up to 1. The table with base case transition probabilities of is presented in Appendix 2.

For the probabilistic analysis mostly Dirichlet distribution was used in the model as there were more than two transition probabilities for each state (beta - for two states). Since there was a lack of the data on all the transition probabilities and absence of alphas and betas, the only solution was to apply the uniform random estimates with standard deviation of 10% of the mean base case value of every health state in the model, excepting just a few having alpha and beta (LT).

4.2 Health outcomes. Measurement and valuation

The measure of the health utility applied in the model was QALY that seeks to reflect the impact on length of life and HRQoL in a single measure. [39] QALY was chosen for this analysis as its nature corresponds the policy of prioritization of the Norwegian health care authorities [83] EQ-5D was a base for the utility weights for this analysis as it is one of the most commonly used instruments. EQ-5D questionnaire is a generic preference-based health measure that has a structured health state descriptive system (questionnaire) with five dimensions: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. The health state preference-based values, or utilities of health states that have been measured by using the time-trade-off (TTO), visual analog scale (VAS), or standard gamble (SG), are converted by a scoring formula (or tariff) into a measure. The source of the values is the general public. [84] In my analysis I used the weighted average of the QALY values from the NICE Committee paper. In this paper EQ-5D was the main tool for adult population to estimate QALY influence of different technologies and for generating health state utility values. [85]

The utility weights are calculated by multiplying HRQoL of a health state by the time spent in the health state. The baseline utility weights of the health states are presented in the Table 2.

Health states	Mean	SE	Reference
F0	0.77	0.02	[85]
F1	0.77	0.02	
F2	0.66	0.03	
F3	0.66	0.03	
F4	0.55	005	
SVR, F0 - SVR, F1	0.82	0.04	
SVR, F2 - SVR, F3	0.71	0.05	
SVR, F4	0.6	0.06	
DC	0.45	0.045	[86]
НСС	0.45	0.045	
LT	0.45	0.045	
PLT	0.67	0.067	

Table 2. Utility weights of health states associated with chronic HCV

F0 – No fibrosis, F1 – mild fibrosis, F2 – moderate fibrosis, F3 – advanced fibrosis, F4 – Compensated cirrhosis, SVR – sustained virologic response, DC – decompensated cirrhosis, HCC – liver cancer, LT – liver transplantation, Post-LT – subsequent years after LT, SVR – sustained virologic response.

4.3 Age-specific parameters

Age is an important factor for the treatment of HCV-infected patient as it can influence on continuity of the therapy, possible adverse events, effectiveness of the drug, appearance of other diseases, comorbidities and even death caused by age. For this reason, I included agespecific utilities and background (all cause) death probability into this analysis as the health state depends on physical and psychological wealth - as older the patients are as more health problems they have, as lower the HRQoL values of patients. Age impacts perception of the health state through other health problems and the EQ-5D scores while evaluating the healthrelated outcomes of the treatment. That was reflected in the analysis by multiplying the agespecific utilities by the utilities summarized for one cycle.

Age-specific utilities were derived from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) [87] that is an American representative survey of the US civilian noninstitutionalized population with information collected about demographic characteristics, health conditions and status. The age-specific HRQoL weights associated with any health state from the model is presented in the Table 3.

For the probabilistic analysis I applied beta distribution that is appropriate for health utility parameters using standard error derived from the survey mentioned.

Age group	Mean	Standard error	Distribution	Source
≤29	0.92	0.0019	Beta	[87]
30-39	0.901	0.0021	Beta	
40-49	0.871	0.0024	Beta	
50-59	0.842	0.0028	Beta	
60-69	0.823	0.0034	Beta	
70-79	0.790	0.0036	Beta	
≥80	0.736	0.0062	Beta	

Table 3. Age-specific baseline utilities

As it was mentioned earlier Markov model includes age-specific background (all-cause) death. The all-cause death rates were based on the population size and mortality rates per 100 000 citizens of each age group (20-29, ...,80-89) obtained from Statistics Norway. [88] Age-specific event rates were converted into transition probabilities by using equation (1) to be applied in the Markov model according to methods described by Briggs et al. [71] The results are shown in the Table 4.

For the probabilistic analysis I used the same approach as in case with transition probabilities – uniform random values with standard deviation of 10% for every mean value of the all-cause death for each health state in age group.

						Range	Range
Age	Population	Death rate			Probability	Lower	Upper
group	size	per 100,000	No deaths	Death rate	(Mean)	limit (0.9)	limit (1.1)
20-29	711 240	0.00161	1 145	0.00161	0.00161	0.00145	0.00177
30-39	700 025	0.00208	1 456	0.00208	0.00208	0.00187	0.00229
40-49	741 730	0.00435	3 227	0.00435	0.00434	0.00391	0.00477
50-59	670 553	0.01226	8 221	0.01226	0.01219	0.01097	0.01340
60-69	570 671	0.03344	19 083	0.03344	0.03289	0.02960	0.03618
70-79	380 388	0.09470	36 023	0.09470	0.09035	0.08132	0.09939
80-89	176 371	0.33455	59 005	0.33455	0.28434	0.25591	0.31277

Table 4. Age-specific all-cause death rates and probabilities

Source: Statistikkbanker på folkehelseinstituttet (Statistics Banks from the National Institute of Health) [Internet]. [cited 2017 September 28]. Available from: <u>http://statistikkbank.fhi.no/webview</u>

4.4 The costs associated with treatment of the chronic HCV

The type of costs included in the model aimed to reflect the direct costs that relate to the clinical management of patients with chronic HCV: cost of medication, treatment (consultations at the general practitioner, hospitalization), monitoring and follow-up, management of complications related to adverse events. Monitoring costs refer to the costs that incur while patients are being treated with the drug prescribed: LDV/SOF, EBR/GZR or pegIFN.

Data on the costs connected with treatment and care of chronic HCV are limited. To find any information on the quantity and price of the resources I used all available studies and guidelines relating the treatment of every health state of chronic HCV applied in the Norwegian perspective. The opinions of clinical experts were also considered and were sometimes the main source of information. All costs are in Norwegian kroner (NOK). Summarized health costs are presented in Appendices 2, 3, 4, 5.

The costs of the drugs for treatment were estimated using the pharmacy price, provided by the NoMA medicine database. The analysis includes also the average annual quantity of doses used per patient as was acquired by the Norwegian Prescription Database. According to the official decision of NoMA the costs associated with HCV drugs should be based on the principles developed by Tollefsen and colleagues. [47] For the purpose of consistency of the Norwegian economic evaluations the same approaches were applied in this analysis – all costs were based on the Norwegian average in- and outpatient treatment [89] and official fares for the primary care treatment.

In Norway, a diagnostic-related groups (DRG)-system is used to get an overview of the type of activity and costs at the hospitals when treating the somatic diseases. DRG provides both medical and financial information. ³ There is also in use the term Major Diagnosis Category (MDC), which the principal diagnosis of the patient indicates. This includes, first, DRGs for highly specialized and expensive care. All diseases of the liver, bile ducts and pancreas relate to the code MDC-7.

In my analysis I used the information found from DRG-codes that relate to the liver diseases (fibrosis, cirrhosis, liver cancer, liver transplantation), including the consultations, hospitalization, diagnostics, treatment follow-up and management.

In Appendix 2 all activities relating the treatment of the liver disease are presented and considered in calculation of the treatment costs.

Appendix 3 contains the price per unit cost with DRG-code and DRG-weight that correspond the price. Unit price per DRG point in 2014 is set at 40 772 NOK. [89] The DRG-weights reflect the relative cost of providing care in each DRG in the hospital per average patient, forming the basis for the activity-based funding. The higher the weight, the more DRG points and the higher income for in-patient days in the DRG.

Table 4 (see Appendicles) contains the information on the laboratory tests (excluding assumed 0,5-hour fee for service of the nurse for blood sampling and administration).

The annual costs for health care services are different for new and old standard therapies as the length of the old standard treatment is 48 weeks instead of 12 weeks with DAAs, moreover the side effects of the pegIFN-based treatment can be very severe and require additional clinical help. To follow the patient and eliminate the consequences of side effects in the right time the patient, passing through the pegIFN-therapy, visit hospital for consultation with GP and for blood sampling every 2 weeks during the treatment and 2 times after the therapy is ended (after 1 and 6 months). For this reason, the costs of IFN-based treatment at stage of

³ NordDRG is used by the Nordic countries, including Norway since 1999. This system is adopted according to the national adjustments.

fibrosis include more consultations with GP (10 per year), additional blood tests (10 per year, including 0,5-hour fee for nurses for blood sampling and administration).

The DAA-based therapy includes the follow-up and consultations at GP at week 4, 8, 12 the medicament treatment and 1-2 times during 24 weeks after the therapy is ended.

The fees for services of different healthcare personnel is taken from the Tariffs for GPs and heath care personnel [in Norwegian: Normaltariff for fastleger og legevakt] 2013-2014 submitted by the NoMA. Table 5 includes the total costs associated with each stage of liver disease caused by chronic HCV infection. These figures were used in the model.

Health states	With DAAs	With pegIFN/RBV
F0-F1	13 631	28 682
F2-F3	16 179	28 682
F4	25 542	53 961
SVRF4	5 789	5 526
DC	258 767	257 582
НСС	353 031	353 031
LT	1 705 000	1 705 000
Post-LT	140 290	140 290

Table 5. Annual costs per stage of liver disease caused by the chronic HCV infection, by treatment strategy (NOK, per patient)

F0 – No fibrosis, F1 – mild fibrosis, F2 – moderate fibrosis, F3 – advanced fibrosis, F4 – Compensated cirrhosis, SVR – sustained virologic response, DC – decompensated cirrhosis, HCC – liver cancer, LT – liver transplantation, Post-LT – subsequent years after LT, DAA – direct acting antiviral, pegIFN/RBV – Pegylated Interferon/Ribavirin.

The costs include follow-up, hospitalization, consultations, lab-tests, excluding cost of medication. For LT, the costs include In-patient treatment of transplanted.

Drug costs were taken from the published resources in Norway. I used the sale price from the Norwegian Pharmaceutical Product Compendium (Felleskatalogen) per one package. Table 5 (Appendices) contains the costs of drugs used in the treatment of treatment-naïve HCV GT1 infected patients.

Gamma distributions was used for costs. Costs are typically represented by the Poisson distributon that is characterized by a bound from 0 to infinity that makes gamma distribution appropriate. Use of gamma also allows for rightward skewedness that can reflect expensive outliers that are sometimes observed in cost data. [71] The assumption applied for the parameters of the gamma distribution was that the standard deviation of each cost was 10% of

the calculated mean, thus the upper and lower limit of the 95% confidence intervals are accordingly 20% lower/higher than the mean values. If expected value and variance are known, but alphas and betas are unknown, it is possible to use the following equations (6) and (7):

$$\alpha = \frac{expected \ value^2}{standard \ deviation^2} \quad (6)$$
$$\beta = \frac{standard \ deviation^2}{expectd \ value} \quad (7)$$

5 Results

5.1 Cost-effectiveness of treatment with DAAs vs. pegIFN/RBV

The deterministic analysis results for different strategies applied to the base-case patients cohort are shown in the Table 6, showing the ICER versus old standard therapy. The expected costs per patient cohort was established for three treatment strategies separately. Incremental cost-utility ratio (ICUR) was calculated for Zepatier and Harvoni against old standard pegIFN-based therapy. The results represent mean values of costs per patient. The expected life-time costs per patient for Zepatier and Harvoni were established on the level 1 747 748 NOK and 1 882 326 NOK respectively, whereas in pegIFN-group the expected costs were 961 541 NOK. The expected QALYs gained are the following: incremental 1.098 QALYs with Zepatier and 1.094 QALYs with Harvoni per patient for 75-years' time horizon. ICUR calculated was 716 158 NOK per QALY gained with Zepatier and 841 727 NOK - with Harvoni. Both DAAs are almost same clinically effective for the almost the same costs, but Zepatier (EBR/GRZ) is still considered economically dominating giving the same number of QALYs gained with lower incremental costs.

Table 6. Results of deterministic analysis of HCV treatment. Life-time outcomes of the old standard treatment and DAAs (per patient)

Therapeutic option	Total costs	QALYs gain	Costs per additional QALY	Life-time costs for drugs, NOK	Life-time costs for medical services, NOK
pegIFN/RBV	961 541	15.507	-	640 523	321 050
EBR/GRZ	1 747 748	16.605	716 158	1 546 532	201 216
LDV/SOF	1 882 326	16.601	841 727	1 597 907	284 419

EBR/GRZ, elbasvir/grazoprevir; LDV/SOF, ledipasvir/sofosbuvir; ICUR, incremental cost-utility ratio; LY, life years; pegIFN/RBV, peg-interferon; RBV, ribavirine; QALY, quality-adjusted life years.

The cost of DAA-based therapy per 1 patient is higher over a lifetime in comparison with old standard treatment. The costs for drugs are 640 523 NOK, 1 546 532 NOK and 1 597 907 NOK for pegIFN/RBV, EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF therapies respectively. Whereas,

the costs for health care services over a lifetime for 1 patient are 321 050 NOK, 201 216 NOK and 284 419 NOK for therapies with pegIFN/RBV, EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF respectively. The QALYs gained by therapy with EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF are 16.605 and 16.601 respectively while the therapy with pegIFN/RBV achieved clearly less (15.507). It means that the DAA-based therapy gives more than 1 additional QALY in comparison with old standard therapy. According to the results EBR/GRZ can be suggested as an optimal treatment alternative than LDV/SOF because of additional 0,005 QALYs achieved for lower costs.

Basing on the results of the deterministic analysis, I can conclude that the high costs of treatment strategies with DAAs seem reasonable for the health effects they provide and number of avoided cases of advanced liver disease that are costly for health care budget.

Probabilistic analysis was conducted for LYs and QALYs separately for both drugs of the analysis - EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF. The results are derived from 1000 iterations in the PSA and presented in the Table 7.

	Intervention	Mean costs (95 % CI)	Mean QALYs (95 % CI)
1		1 031 749	11.57
		(841 661 - 1 248 352)	(9.67 13.09)
	Old standard practice		(9.07 - 13.09)
2		2 176 740	13.94
		(1 606 488 – 2 927 274)	(11.88 - 15.73)
	EBR/GRZ		
2.1		1 144 992	2.37
		(547 927 – 1 878 355)	(1.84 - 2.84)
	Mean Difference (2-1)		(1.04 2.04)
3		2 313 831	13.94
		(1 715 591 – 2 940 025)	(11.66 - 16.22)
	LDV/SOF		(11.00 10.22)
3.1		1 282 082	2.37
		(873 930 - 1 691 673)	(1.93 - 3.13)
	Mean Difference (3-1)		(1.75 5.15)

Table 7. Results of probabilistic sensitivity analysis (per patient)

The cost-effectiveness plane in the Figure 3 demonstrates the results of the PSA for QALYs for EBR/GRZ compared with pegIFN/RBV. On the figure most of the points corresponding ICERs are concentrated in North-East quadrant of the coordinate system. That means that this treatment strategy has higher costs and provides additional life years during the life time horizon. For this analysis the highest level of the willingness to pay (WTP) threshold

was taken at the level of 700 000 NOK. WTP threshold is used as a limit price that the payer is ready to pay for additional QALY. As we can see on the graph, all points are under the threshold line that practically can mean the cost-effectiveness of the treatment with EBR/GRZ. As more points are laying under the threshold line, as higher the probability of EBR/GRZ being cost-effective at this threshold.



Figure 2. Cost-effectiveness plane for QALYs

The cost-effectiveness plane of PSA for QALYs gained of LDV/SOF is presented in the Figure 4. The WTP threshold was the same 700 000 NOK and the ICUR points were concentrated in North-East side of the coordinate system proving the cost-effectiveness of the therapy vs. the old standard therapy.

Figure 3. Cost-effectiveness plane for QALYs



The CEACs of QALYs for EBR/GRZ vs. pegIFN/RBV and LDV/SOF vs. pegIFN/RBV are presented in the Figures 4 and 5 respectively. It is possible to see that both drugs are cost-effective at WTP-threshold of 700 000 NOK. The CEAC shows that at threshold 700 000 NOK EBR/GRZ is cost-effective with 99% probability and with probability of 59% at threshold of 500 000 NOK for additional QALY (Figure 4).



Figure 4. CEAC of QALYs

According to the CEAC in the figure 5 Harvoni (LDV/SOF) is cost-effective with probability 46% at the WTP-threshold 550 000 NOK and with probability 94% at the WTP-threshold 700 000 NOK. As a result, the treatment option with EBR/GRZ can be suggested as optimal treatment option.

Figure 5. CEAC for QALY



In the Figure 6 the CEACs of QALYs for different price levels of Zepatier are presented: the first one corresponds the standard wholesale price and the second – the assumed price with 40%-rebate. It is important to know the probability of being cost-effective of Zepatier with new price that, unfortunately, is not available in published sources. As we can see from the Figure 6, this probability is very high - around 95% with ICER equal 250,000 NOK. We can suggest that DAA-therapy seems very favourable for patients for its effectiveness and tolerability and for the payer side – because of the lower prices that can create the possibility to treat patients from the early stages and avoid advanced liver diseases saving money for the medical services.



Figure 6. CEAC of QALYs

The results of CEA show that EBR/GRZ is cost-effective with WTP threshold of 700 000 NOK with higher probability (99%) compared with LDV/SOF (94%) for treatment-naïve genotype 1 HCV mono-infected patients. CEAC suggests that at WTP-threshold 500 000 NOK the probability of cost-effectiveness of EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF are 59% and 33% respectively that suggests LDV/SOF as non-cost-effective if the WTP-threshold is lower than 700 000 NOK assumed. It may be considered that EBR/GRZ is still an optimal treatment option for different levels of WTP-threshold.

The expected value of perfect information is conducted for QALYs of EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF. The EVPI for EBR/GRZ is the highest when the WTP is 500 000 NOK (Figure 8), as well as the highest EVPI for LDV/SOF is at the WTP 550 000 NOK (Figure 9) that confirms the results of CEACs that is shown in the Figures 5 and 6 respectively.

Figure 7. Expected value of perfect information



If two interventions have the same probability of being cost-effective, it creates additional uncertainty about what intervention is optimal. The EVPIs of both drugs correspond the points of CEACs. At WTP of 500 000 NOK, the EVPI is 69 213 NOK for EBR/GRZ and 78 962 NOK for LDV/SOF suggesting that EBR/GRZ is an optimal treatment option.

Figure 8. Expected value of perfect information



To know the EVPI for the price rebated, the CEAC and EVPI evaluation for the assumed price can be conducted. But we can assume also that the rebated price for drugs can demonstrate more favourable results of cost-effectiveness, but still it is included in the analysis to make the conclusions more visible. The EVPI for both price regimes are presented in the Figure 10. At WTP 150 000 NOK EVPI is 39 142 NOK that was expected.



Figure 9. Expected value of perfect information

5.2 Budget Impact Analysis

The issues of the staging of HCV when the therapy should be initiated and the high prices of DAAs are the most debated by the health care authorities responsible for planning and financing. For this reason the BIA incudes several scenarios of DAA-based treatment. The analysis will be devoted only to EBR/GRZ as the effects of EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF are almost the same, so the conclusions of BIA will relate to both regimens. The scenarios are the following: 1) Therapy with pegIFN/RBV for 48 weeks. 2) Therapy with EBR/GRZ for 48 weeks. As the price of EBR/GRZ was rebated, but publicly not available, the sensitivity analysis was conducted for a 40%-rebated price for 12-week therapy of EBR/GRZ.

The methods were used according to International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes (ISPOR) task force report by Sullivan et al. [91]

The analysis as well as the study is based on the principles of the Norwegian healthcare sector that is characterized by the public financing from the Norwegian National Health Insurance Scheme – from payer's perspective.

According to the guidelines of Norwegian Ministry of Finance 3% is an appropriate societal discount rate for the project above 40 years. [66] 3% discount rate is applied in the study, though it is generally not required.

BIA presupposes estimates the financial consequences of adopting a new intervention. The size of the population is explicitly considered in BIA to evaluate the total budget required for fund intervention. The overall number of HCV infected patients in Norway is assumed to be 16 500 (11 000 – 17 000 by the NIPH). By MSIS, 44% are presented by the GT1, so the number of patients used in BIA is 7 260. The distribution of the patients for the first scenario is 4 719 at METAVIR F2 stage, 1 089 at stage F3 and 1 452 patients – at stage F4 corresponding the proportions 65%, 15% and 20% respectively.

The cost of the therapy, of the management of adverse events and health state were the same used in the model: taken from the published resources, calculated using activity-based approach, through interviews with clinical experts.

The results of the analysis are reported in the Table 8. The use of EBR/GRZ will lead to the increase of the costs for the Norwegian Health System (NHS) in 5 years considered in the analysis. To be more precise, the costs increase due to the costs of treatment, while the costs related to the management of the health state (HS) and follow-up of the adverse events (AE) are almost twice lower. This trend is followed during all 5 years. The total impact on the budget of the NHS mostly decrease during all 5 years (-70%, -25%, -43%, +8%, -24%).

Table 8. Impact on the NHS of the use of EBR/GRZ for the treatment of HCV genotype 1 infected patients (treatment is initiated at fibrosis stages F2-F4 for base case price), million NOK

			Costs (mln NOK)					
Scenario	Cost category	Year 2014	Year 2015	Year 2016	Year 2017	Year 2018	Year 2019	
pegIFN/RBV 48 weeks	Treatment	1032	463	286	177	135	106	
	HS and AE	245	140	143	158	182	203	
	Total	1277	603	429	335	317	309	
with EBR/GRZ 12 weeks	Treatment	3746	1302	921	564	563	465	
	HS and AE	131	78	90	98	107	110	
	Total	3877	1380	1011	662	670	575	
Budget impact	Treatment	2714	839	635	387	428	359	
	HS and AE	-114	-62	-53	-60	-75	-93	
	Total	2600	777	582	327	353	266	

Due to the absence of the published rebated price of EBR/GRZ, it was assumed that the rebate was 40%, and the results of BIA are presented in Table 9. The total impact with rebated price of EBR/GRZ compared to the base case price is 57%, 67%, 56%, 70%, 63% lower in the subsequent years considered in the analysis.

Table 9. Impact on the NHS of the use of EBR/GRZ for the treatment of HCV genotype 1 infected patients (treatment is initiated at fibrosis stages F2-F4 for 40%-rebated price), million NOK

		Costs (mln NOK)					
Scenario	Cost category	Year 2014	Year 2015	Year 2016	Year 2017	Year 2018	Year 2019
with pegIFN/RBV 48 weeks	Treatment	1032	463	286	177	135	106
	HS and AE	245	140	143	158	182	203
	Total	1277	603	429	335	317	309
with EBR/GRZ 12 weeks	Treatment	2248	781	553	338	338	279
	HS and AE	131	78	90	98	107	110
	Total	2379	859	643	436	445	389
Budget impact	Treatment	1216	318	267	161	203	173
	HS and AE	-114	-62	-53	-60	-75	-93
	Total	1102	256	214	101	128	80

Impact of treatment initiation by fibrosis stage (F0 vs. F2-F4)

The discussion about the timing of treating HCV is getting wider. [94] From one side, for the reason that part of the patients (approximately 30%) are getting rid of the virus on the early stages of fibrosis without treatment, it was considered more reasonable to initiate the therapy at the moderate or advanced stages of fibrosis as it is associated with lower costs. To get more information on the economic impact of the postponed treatment, BIA included the part where two approaches were compared: treatment with EBR/GRZ of HCV genotype 1 infected patients with moderate and advanced fibrosis and the same therapy but initiated at stage of absence of fibrosis (F0). The results are presented in Table 10. The treatment costs of the early treatment are the same like in postponed treatment in the 1st year, 9% higher in the second year and have the decreasing trend in the subsequent years (-37%, -40%, -55%). The medical costs related to the management of AEs and follow-up are much lower if HCV is treated early: -24%, -54%, etc. It can relate to lower incidence of the advanced liver diseases if HCV is treated at early stages. The total impact on the NHS of the postponed HCV treatment is significant (32, 2, 414, 317 and 412 million NOK) during the whole period of analysis.

		Costs (mln NOK)					
	Cost	Year	Year	Year	Year	Year	Year
Scenario	category	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
with	Treatment	3746	1342	581	335	251	218
EBR/GRZ (at	HS and AE	99	36	16	9	7	6
stage F0)	Total	3845	1378	597	344	258	224
with	Treatment	3746	1302	921	564	563	465
EBR/GRZ (at	HS and AE	131	78	90	98	107	110
stage F2-F4)	Total	3877	1380	1011	662	670	575
Dudaat	Treatment	0	-41	340	228	312	246
Budget	HS and AE	32	42	74	89	100	104
impact	Total	32	2	414	317	412	350

Table 10. Impact on the Norwegian Health System of the use of EBR/GRZ for the treatment of HCV genotype 1 infected patients if therapy initiated at stages METAVIR F2-F4

EBR/GRZ – Elbasvir/Grazoprevir; HS – Health state; AE – adverse events

The limitation of the analysis can be the 5-year period analysed as HCV is a long-lasting disease and the direct medical costs increase in the long period (due to decompensated cirrhosis, liver cancer and liver transplantation), therefore the results of current BIA could be overestimated without consideration of the benefits. But basing on the results of 5-year analysis, there is a trend of the costs reduction with EBR/GRZ compared with pegIFN/RBV, which may lead to the reduction of the costs in a long term. Additionally, the economic and health benefits of the early treatment with EBR/GRZ were also very favourable.

5.3 One-way sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis shows the influence of different variables on ICUR. Nonetheless, the model in this study is very complex (complementary) that makes it difficult to evaluate the influence of every variable. For this reason, the analysis included only the sensitivity analysis of the price of the interventions.

One-way sensitivity analysis for price of DAAs-to was conducted to evaluate the potential future results of the price rebated for the hospitals achieved during the tender negotiations between the Norwegian healthcare authorities and the pharmaceutical companies. The final prices are never publicly available, so the results of a one-way sensitivity analysis can help to understand the financial impact of new prices on the economic effect of the treatment analysed. The results are shown in the Figures 13 and 14. Moreover, numerous studies show small influence of most variables, excluding the most decisive like drug costs, age and discount rate. [5, 90, 92]

Figure 10. Results of one-way sensitivity analysis for QALYs



Figure 11. Results of one-way sensitivity analysis for QALYs



6 Discussion and limitations

This thesis is one of the first studies devoted to analysis of cost-effectiveness of EBR/GRZ in Norway. Though transition probabilities and utility weights were derived from non-Norwegian studies, the most input parameters and model characteristics reflect the Norwegian perspective. The analysis was based on the real practice, opinions of the clinical experts, actual patient data and the current national guidelines in modelling the long-term health and economic outcomes of different treatment strategies. Nevertheless, the thesis has the number of limitations connected with the uncertainty of parameters, structure of the model and assumptions.

In this study the WTP of 700 000 NOK was used for CEA, but there is a wide discussion among healthcare economists on usage of threshold as an effectiveness limit. For instance, the WTP threshold at the level of $600\ 000 - 700\ 000$ NOK per QALY gained seems to be a desired recommendation rather than a strict national guideline for reason that, firstly, this threshold can be low in case of life threatening diseases [68], and secondly, it can seem misleading to hold strictly threshold without indicating borderline ICERs when intervention is considered costeffective in the Norwegian healthcare system.

As it was mentioned above the prioritization principle proposed by Magnussen et al. can be a good alternative approach in identifying an appropriate level of WTP-threshold for a particular disease. In that case, the results of this study prove the cost-effectiveness of EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF with WTP-threshold of 700 000 NOK per QALY gained as appropriate for treatment of CHC. Especially since chronic HCV is a dangerous disease as hardly diagnosed at the early stages, but associated with serious consequences for health if not treated and transmission to healthy people increasing the rates of mortality and morbidity. Nevertheless, this approach is widely debated. An appropriate health-loss criterion (or criteria) of every health condition still must be identified to avoid the omission of modifying factors (like uncertainty, dignity and budget impact) that can lead to acceptance of an intervention with a cost higher (or lower) than is commensurate with the measure's degree of severity. The working group is admitting that the approach should be adopted for the Norwegian perspective with consideration of the resource use for the intervention of interest. It seems to be very challenging as even the clinical experts cannot give the detailed information on all resources used for one QALY gained. So, the equity and need, that were declared as main principles of distribution, seem not to be observed. Moreover, the group insists that the WTP threshold should be the subject of the political discussion and the approach can be used for some diseases until more accurate calculations arise. [93] But still the prioritization principle of the Magnussen group seems to be adequate in the CEA of the new intervention (the higher the severity – the higher maximum level of WTP threshold).

Another important issue is at what stage of liver disease the treatment is the most costeffective. As it was shown by the results of BIA in the study, the treatment of the HCV at earlier stages (METAVIR F0) leads to fewer cases of advanced liver diseases and lower direct costs in the future. The results could be different if there was no assumption that SVR rate in patients with compensated cirrhosis (METAVIR F4) equals SVR rate in patients with mild and moderate stages of fibrosis (METAVIR F1-F3) as many studies and meta-analysis prove higher health outcomes and lower HCV-related mortality rates in non-cirrhotic patients compared with cirrhotic patients. [90, 94, 95] Thus, the total cost of care associated with advanced liver disease could be reduced in case if the treatment is initiated at early stages of liver disease: the number of cases of advanced liver disease in therapy with DAAs at early stages almost zero whereas in therapy at moderate stages of fibrosis (METAVIR F2-F3) and compensated cirrhosis (METAVIR F4) around 450 of DC, 202 – of liver cancer and 37 – of liver transplantation during the life-time among 1000 patients observed. This can be the argument for the early diagnostics across all categories of people that are or were under risk of transmission of HCV.

The limitation of the study is that the number of comparators was limited – only two whereas around 11 DAAs authorized in Norway and used in the anti-HCV therapy, so the results of the analysis can be considered unrepresentative or EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF could be less cost-effective. But still these two DAAs have higher SVR rates in patients of genotype 1 and prescribed by Norwegian guidelines, lead to lower costs and associated with lower adverse events (though AEs are not serious among all DAAs). And EBR/GRZ is still very new (authorized in 2017) and was expensive in the beginning. As the price was reduced, the cost-effectiveness of EBR/GRZ seems to be more obvious, but the additional analysis is necessary for clinicians and decision makers to know better the health outcomes and possible harms in the long-term that is the main goal of CUA. The results can be interesting for representatives of other hospitals in Norway and abroad that use pegIFN/RBV for treatment of genotype 1 HCV infected patients. Though the old standard technology is suggested very effective in patients with genotype 2 and 3 HCV infection under age of 40 y.o.

Another limitation is uncertainty of the transition probabilities and utility weights. To achieve the goal of this study the model was based on the estimates from the natural liver disease

progression data found in the literature. Thus, the disease progression is assumed to be the same for all treatment strategies over the lifetime that is not always comparable with real cases. Moreover, the data from the literature and studies based on the clinical trials conducted in other countries and cannot always collate with Norwegian population. For instance, age- and health state-based utilities were taken from the American survey that used the evaluations of the American population aged 20-80 and older that eventually differ from Norwegian on demographic, individual and risk factors. But such kind of information is hardly accessible in every country, nonetheless it is important to use in CUA the data received from the clinical trials with representative population to follow the rule of heterogeneity.

The third limitation is that the effect of SVR on the transmission rates wasn't considered, though the inclusion could lead to more favourable results.

Fourth, the model is considering only the direct costs, neglecting the possible losses connected to the disease, for example, the omission of the productivity loss. The study is also considering only the mono-infected patients, whereas in life HCV infected patients often have coinfections such as HBV, HIV, kidney disease or diabetes; comorbidities, alcohol addiction or other individual characteristics creating the higher risk of the disease progression. That could be explained that the patient-level data, provided by Akershus university hospital, included very limited number of patients with such risk factors detected together with HCV. For this reason, these factors were neglected. Nonetheless, the treatment of HCV infected patients with coinfections and comorbidities should be studied additionally as such cases associate at times with higher fibrosis progression, at times lower SVR rates and more severe adverse events, but sometimes get higher health benefits then HCV mono-infected patients.

There are also many arguments that the real-world number of patients completed the treatment and achieved SVR rates is lower than the inputs from the studies and CT. Therefore, the inputs on efficacy of the treatment can stay very robust despite the standard deviation of 10% used in the probabilistic analysis, providing the individual heterogeneity in chronic HCV progression.

The limitation relates to the insufficient description of adverse events in the model. It is considered that the patients face the adverse events more often than it is presupposed in the study. It should be studied additionally, but still it is very difficult to assess the grade at which the disease or therapy impacts the health state and perception of utility/disutility of the intervention for health. Therefore, the utility/disutility values can be considered very uncertain.

One more limitation arises from the cases of successful and unsuccessful treatment. From one side, SVR achievers can be re-infected and the accumulated health outcomes can be considered overestimated. The probability of reinfection is reflected in the study, so the overestimation is less possible. From another side, the treatment for non-responders can be still beneficiary that is not considered in the model.

The data on resource use can be insufficient. The cost of HCV care and adverse effects were hardly accessible as it is complicated to assess even for clinical experts and personnel the costs associated with every patient or health state. The information on all DRGs relating to HCV, in- and outpatient care was extracted from national and international reports and guidelines. And still the inputs can be unexhaustive for real-world assessment of the economic outcomes of the treatment. Since the data from number of sources can be different, I relied on the sources that correspond the most the perspective and the population. The cost of the future therapy is unknow in most of the cases. And the model cannot catch the possible price reduction of the drugs that can influence the cost-effectiveness. The price is supposed to have been be reduced from March 2017, consequently, it is possible to conclude that the lower price makes the therapy even more cost-effective, available for bigger number of patients, or the Norwegian government can choose to treat HCV infected patients for less money, making possible the treatment of other diseases of a high priority.

The limitation also goes from the so-called "memoryless" property of the state-transition model characterized by that the transition probability of shifting from the current health state to the next one depends on the current state and omits the history status. It would be fair to assume that "non-responders" to the current treatment (those who stay in a health state without reaching SVR) can be "non-responders" to another treatment, and the probability of disease progression is higher in their case. Unfortunately, the model has no memory and the transition probabilities are the same for all patients in the same health state without considering the previous history of the disease and treatment.

The parameter uncertainty was studied in frames of PSA, but the structure of the model can be another source of uncertainty as many assumptions were made, and the appropriateness of these assumptions as well as the results can be debated. The Markov model includes 13 health states, so it is a complimentary model, meaning that big number of health states makes the model less transparent and the results of the model less accurate. It was possible to see that only a few health states were accumulating most of the patients. But from another point of view, excluding some health states would lead to loss of the information on patients and disease progression.

7 Conclusion

This study was prompted by the need of Akerhus University Hospital to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of new DAA-based anti-HCV treatment with old price regime. To do this a model was conducted to compare three treatment strategies in a Norwegian context and to evaluate the outcomes in a life-time horizon. Those strategies are: 48-weeks therapy with old standard combination of pegIFN and RBV; 12-weeks DAA-based therapy with EBR/GRZ (Zepatier); 12-weeks DAA-based therapy with LDV/SOF (Harvoni). In March 2017 the new price regime on DAAs, including EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF, was achieved by efforts of LIS. After that it is presupposed that DAAs are getting cost-effective, whereas the "pre-rebate" period keeps the questions on the long-term health and economic outcomes of this new treatment regimes. As the new prices are not available, still BIA, EVPI of the treatment with EBR/GRZ were conducted for old price and assumed 40%-rebated price to show the possible development of cost-effectiveness of the new drug as a result of the price reduction.

The new generation of DAAs such as EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF are associated with short treatment length, substantially higher SVR, safety profile and higher chances to get rid of the HCV for all interferon-intolerant patients leading to the improvements in patients' outcomes and positive treatment experience. All these facts were found by Akershus university hospital that launched DAA-based treatment in practice in 2014, but still had no exact assessment of cost-effectiveness of these pegIFN-free treatment strategies. This study was prompted by the need of Akerhus University Hospital to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of new DAA-based anti-HCV treatment. In March 2017 the new price regime on DAAs, including EBR/GRZ and LDV/SOF, was achieved by efforts of LIS. The subject of interest is "pre-rebate" time from March 2014 till March 2017 when DAAs were provided by manufacturers for full price, so that the novel treatment of HCV was associated with high costs and its cost-effectiveness was debated. The main goal was to assess the long-term economic and health effects of the DAAs in patients that were treated with DAAs during 2014-2017. To do this a model was conducted to compare three treatment strategies in a Norwegian context and to evaluate the outcomes in a life-time horizon. Those strategies are: 48-weeks therapy with old standard combination of pegIFN and RBV; 12-weeks DAA-based therapy with EBR/GRZ (Zepatier); 12-weeks DAAbased therapy with LDV/SOF (Harvoni).

The results of deterministic and probabilistic analysis demonstrated that these two regimens could be cost-effective in comparison with pegIFN/RBV. To be more precise,

EBR/GRZ is optimal than LDV/SOF as it gave the same number of QALYs gained (16.6) for not significantly but smaller costs (1 747 748 NOK per patient vs. 1 882 326 NOK per patient respectively) that corresponds the ICER for 716 158 NOK per additional QALY gained by EBR/GRZ and ICER of 841 727 NOK per QALY gained by LDV/SOF.

And both regimens were found cost-effective at WTP-threshold 700 000 NOK by the probabilistic analysis compared with pegIFN/RBV-based therapy: 13.94 QALYs (per patient) with mean costs 2 176 740 NOK (per patient) for therapy with EBR/GRZ and 13.94 QALYs (per patient) with mean costs 2 313 831 NOK (per patient) for therapy with LDV/SOF. But if WTP-threshold is lower (e.g. 500 000 NOK) the cost-effectiveness of LDV/SOF is under the question. Both treatment strategies were compared with old standard therapy. However, the findings from the previous studies have shown that both regimens are cost-effective options in patients with all levels of treatment experience. [5, 90] Moreover, there is a study [57] that has shown economic dominance of EBR/GRZ versus LDV/SOF in different patient population that was partly proven by the current study as well: with almost the same QALYs the higher costs are associated with LDV/SOF. Probably, the results of CEA of EBR/GRZ could be different if there were no assumptions and limitations, but that requires additional studies.

The issue of timing of treatment is still widely discussed. To show the favorable effects of the early treatment there was an additional analysis part conducted in frames of BIA to demonstrate the budget impact of the postponed treatment. The results show the higher costs of early treatment were mostly lower than postponed therapy and both treatment costs and generally significantly decreasing costs in subsequent years. But still the health and economic outcomes of the early treatment should be studied additionally to show the effects in a long perspective.

The new price regime of DAAs improves the cost-effectiveness of pegIFN-free treatment and increases its affordability and access.

References

- 1. WHO. Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021. Towards ending viral hepatitis. June 2016 (Internet) [cited October 30 2017] Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/246177/1/WHO-HIV-2016.06-eng.pdf?ua=1
- 2. National strategy for work against viral hepatitis [in Norwegian]. Health care department of the Office of State Ministers of Norway. Available from: www.regjeringen.no
- 3. Martin NK, Vickerman P, Dore GJ, Grebely J, Miners A, Cairns J, et al. Prioritization of HCV treatment in the direct-acting antiviral era: An economic evaluation. J Hepatol. 2016;65(1):17-25.
- 4. Rein DB, Wittenborn JS, Smith BD, Liffmann DK, Ward JW. The cost-effectiveness, health benefits, and financial costs of new antiviral treatments for hepatitis C virus. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61(2):157-68.
- Najafzadeh M, Andersson K, Shrank WH, Krumme AA, Matlin OS, Brennan T, Avorn J, Choudhry NK. Cost-effectiveness of novel regimens for the treatment of hepatitis C virus. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2015;162(6):407-19.
- 6. San Miguel R, Gimeno-Ballester V, Mar J. Cost effectiveness of protease inhibitor-based regimens for chronic hepatitis C: a systematic review of published literature. Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research. 2014; 14:387–402.
- 7. Gold M, Siegel J, Russell L. Cost-effectiveness in health and medicine. New York: Oxford University Press, 1996.
- 8. Drummond G, Sculpher M, Torrance M, O'Brien G, Stoddart B. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programs. Oxford University Press; 2005.
- 9. Engen ØB. Gets 50 percent rebate on hepatitis C medication [In Norwegian]. Dagens Medisin. 2016.
- 10. Gerlach JT, Diepolder HM, Zachoval R. Acute hepatitis C: high rate of both spontaneous and treatment -induced viral clearance. Gastroenterology. 2003; 125:80-88.
- 11. Kamal SM. Acute hepatitis C: a systematic review. The American Journal of Gastroenterology. 2008; 103:1283-1297.
- 12. Dalgard O, Konopski Z, Bosse FJ, Nordstrand B, Sandvei P, Karlsen L, Myrvang B. Hepatitis C investigation and treatment [Hepatitt C utredning og behandling]. Tidsskrift for Den norske legeforening. 2011 January 7:1-8.
- 13. Kielland KB, Delaveris GJ, Rogde S, Eide TJ, Amundsen EK, Dalgard O. Liver fibrosis progression at autopsy in injecting drug users infected by hepatitis C: A longitudinal long-term cohort study. Journal of Hepatology. 2014; 60:260-266.
- 14. Benhamou Y, Bochet M, Di Martino V, Charlotte F, Azria F, Coutellier A, Vidaud M, et al. <u>Liver</u> <u>fibrosis progression in human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus coinfected patients. The</u> <u>Multivirc Group.</u> Hepatology 1999;30:1054-1058.

- 15. Poynard T, Bedossa P, Opolon P. Natural history of liver fibrosis progression in patients with chronic hepatitis C. The OBSVIRC, METAVIR, CLINIVIR, and DOSVIRC groups. Lancet 1997; 349:825-832.
- 16. Tong MJ, Elfarra NS, Reikes AR, Co RL. Clinical outcomes after transfusion associated hepatitis-C. New England Journal of Medicine. 1995;332(22):1463-6.
- 17. Tremolada F, Casarin C, Alberti A, Drago C, Tagger A, Ribero ML, et al. Long-term follow-up of non-A, non-B (type C) post-transfusion hepatitis. Journal of Hepatology. 1992;16(3):273-81.
- 18. Thein HH, Yi Q, Dore GJ, Krahn MD. Estimation of stage-specific fibrosis progression rates in chronic hepatitis C virus infection: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Hepatology. 2008;48(2):418–31.
- 19. El-Serag HB, Rudolph KL. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology. 2007;132(7):2557–76.
- Blachier M, Leleu H, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Valla DC, Roudot-Thoraval F. The burden of liver disease in Europe: A review of available epidemiological data. Journal of Hepatology.2013(58):593–608.
- 21. Foss A, Hagness M, Scholz T. Liver transplantation in Norway [Levertransplantasjon I Norge]. Kirurgen March 2011
- 22. World Health Organization 2009 Media Centre/Hepatitis C (Internet). Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs164/en/
- 23. World Health Organization. Global hepatitis report 2017. April 2017.
- 24. Messina JP, Humphreys I, Flaxman A, Brown A, Cooke GS, Pybus OG, Barnes E. Global distribution and prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Hepatology. 2015; 61:77-87.
- 25. Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. Journal of Hepatology. 2014;61(supplementary): S45-S57.
- 26. Nouroza F, Shaheena S, Mujtaba G, et al. An overview on hepatitis C virus genotypes and its control. Egypt Journal of Medical Human Genetics. 2015; 16:291-298.
- 27. Thomson EC, Fleming VM, Main J, Klenerman P, Weber J, Eliahoo J, Smith J, McClure MO, Karayiannis P. Predicting spontaneous clearance of acute hepatitis C virus in a large cohort of HIV-1-infected men. Gut. 2011; 60:837–45.
- 28. Gerlach JT, Diepolder HM, Zachoval R, Gruener NH, Jung MC, Ulsenheimer A, Schraut WW, Schirren CA, Waechtler M, Backmund M, Pape GR. Acute hepatitis C: high rate of both spontaneous and treatment induced viral clearance. Gastroenterology. 2003;125(1):80–8.
- 29. Kowdley KV, Lawitz E, Crespo I, Hassanein T, Davis MN, Demicco M, et al. Sofosbuvir with pegylated interferon alfa-2a and ribavirin for treatment-naive patients with hepatitis C genotype-1 infection (ATOMIC): An open-label, randomised, multicentre phase 2 trial. *Lancet* 2013;381(9883):2100-7.
- 30. Martinot-Peignoux M, Stern C, Maylin S, Ripault MP, Boyer N, Leclere L, Castelnau C, et al. Twelve weeks posttreatment follow-up is as relevant as 24 weeks to determine the sustained virologic response in patients with Hepatitis C virus receiving pegylated interferon and ribavirin. Hepatology; 51:1122-1126.

- Lawitz E, Mangia A, Wyles D, Rodriguez-Torres M, Hassanein T, Gordon SC, Schultz M, et al. Sofosbuvir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C infection. The New England Journal of Medicine 2013;368:1878-1887.
- 32. EASL Recommendations on Treatment of Hepatitis C 2016. Journal of Hepatology. 2016.
- 33. Shepherd, J., Waugh, N., & Hewitson, P. Combination therapy (interferon alfa and ribavirin) in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a rapid and systematic review. Health technology assessment. 2000; 4(33).
- 34. Bell H, Dalgard O, Bjøro K et al. Treatment of chronic hepatitis C [in Norwegian]. Tidsskr Nor Lægeforen 2002; 122: 926 8.
- 35. Strader DB, Wright T, Thomas DL et al. Diagnosis, management, and treatment of hepatitis C. Hepatology. 2004; 39: 1147 71.
- 36. Parekh P, Shiffman M. The role of interferon in the new era of hepatitis C treatments. Expert Review of Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 2014;8(6): 649-56.
- 37. Chou R, Carson S, Chan B, Care B. (2007). Drug Class Review on Pegylated Interferons for Chronic Hepatitis C Infection. Oregon Health & Science University.
- 38. Poordad F, McCone J Jr, Bacon BR, et al. Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. The New England Journal of Medicine .2011; 364:1195–206.
- 39. Jacobson IM, McHutchison JG, Dusheiko G, et al. Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C virus infection. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2011; 364:2405–16.
- 40. Bacon BR, Gordon SC, Lawitz E, et al. Boceprevir for previously treated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2011; 364:1207–17.
- 41. Zeuzem S, Andreone P, Pol S, et al. Telaprevir for retreatment of HCV infection. N Engl J Med 2011; 364:2417–28.
- 42. Wells G, Kelly S, Farah B, Singh S, Chen L, Hsieh S, et al. Drugs for Chronic Hepatitis C Infection: Clinical Review. CADTH Therapeutic Reviews. Ottawa (ON). 2016.
- 43. Kowdley K, Gordon S, Reddy K, Rossaro L, Bernstein D, Lawitz E, Shiffman M, et al. Ledipasvir and sofosbuvir for 8 or 12 weeks for chronic HCV without cirrhosis. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2014; 370:1879-1888.
- 44. Afdhal N, Zeuzem S, Kwo P, Chojkier M, Gitlin N, Puoti M, Romero-Gomez M, et al. Ledipasvir and sofosbuvir for untreated HCV genotype 1 infection. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2014; 370:1889-1898.
- 45. ZEPATIER [package insert]. Whitehouse Station, NJ: Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp., 2016.
- Dalgard O, Jeansson S, Skaug K, Raknerud N, Bell H. Hepatitis C in the general adult population of Oslo: prevalence and clinical spectrum. Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology. 2003; 38:864-870.
- 47. Tollefsen KB, Kristiansen IS, Asphjell MK, Falch NS, Sæther EM. Hepatitis C—New drugs give better treatment options [in Norwegian]. Oslo Economics; 2014. http://osloeconomics.no/wpcontent/uploads/Nye-behandlingsmulighter-hepatitt-C_nett.pdf.
- 48. The Norwegian Institute of Health, Hepatitis C guidelines for healthcare professionals [in Norwegian]. Cited on 29.04.2018. Available from:

https://www.fhi.no/nettpub/smittevernveilederen/sykdommer-a-a/hepatitt-c---veileder-forhelsepers/

- 49. Bjøro K, Dalgard O, Eskesen A, Kalsen L, Kielland K, Konopski Z, Sandvei P. Professional guidelines for follow-up and treatment of hepatitis C [Faglig veileder for oppfølging og behandling av hepatitt C]. Norwegian Society for Infectious Medicine and Norwegian Gastroenterological Society in the Norwegian Medical Association [in Norwegian]. 2014.
- 50. Barlinn R, Blystad H, Dorenberg DH, Greve-Isdahl M, Kløvstad H, Løvlie A, et al. Blood and sexually transmitted infections [in Norwegian]. Oslo: Norwegian Institute of Public Health; 2015. <u>https://www.fhi.no/globalassets/dokumenterfiler/rapporter/smittsomme-sykdommer/blod-ogseksueltoverforbare-infeksjoner-rsrapport-2014-pdf.pdf. Accessed 30 Jan 2018</u>.
- 51. Haukeland J, Lorgen I, Schreiner L, Frigstad S, Brandsaeter B, Bjøro K, Konopski, Z. (2007). Incidence rates and causes of cirrhosis in a Norwegian population. Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology, pp. 42(12):1501-1508.
- 52. Mühlberger, N., Schwarzer, R., Lettmeier, B., Sroczynski, G., Zeuzem, S., Siebert, U. HCV-related burden of disease in Europe: a systematic assessment of incidence, prevalence, morbidity, and mortality. BMC Public Health, 2009; 9:34.
- 53. Charlton, M. Hepatitis C Infection in Liver Transplantation. Americaln Journal of Transplantation. 2001;1(3):197-203.
- 54. Hagan LM, Yang Z, Ehteshami M, Schinazi RF. All-oral, interferon-free treatment for chronic hepatitis C: cost- effectiveness analyses. Journal of the Viral Hepatology. 2013; 20: 847–57.
- 55. Younossi ZM, Singer ME, Mir HM, Henry L, Hunt S. Impact of interferon free regimens on clinical and cost outcomes for chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 patients. Journal of Hepatology. 2014; 60: 530–7.
- 56. Deuffic-Burban S, Schwarzinger M, Obach D, et al. Should we await IFN-free regimens to treat HCV genotype 1 treatment-naive patients? A cost- effectiveness analysis (ANRS 95141). Journal of Hepatology. 2014; 61: 7–14.
- Corman S, Elbasha EH, Michalopoulos SN, Nwankwo C. Cost-utility of Elbasvir/Grazoprevir in Patients with chronic Hepatitis C Genotype 1. infection. Value Health. 2017 Sep;20(8):1110-1120. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2017.05.003. Epub 2017 Jun 20.
- 58. Wisløff T, White R, Dalgard O, Amundsen EJ, Meijerink H, Løvlie AL, Kløvstad H. Economic Evaluation of Direct-Acting Antivirals for Hepatitis C in Norway. PharmacoEconomics 2018 February ;1:1-11.
- 59. Afdhal N, Bacon BR, Patel K, Lawitz EJ, Gordon SC, Nelson DR, Challies TL, Nasser I, Garg J, Wei LJ, McHutchison JG. Accuracy of fibroscan, compared with histology, in analysis of liver fibrosis in patients with hepatitis B or C: a United States multicenter study. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 2015 Apr;13(4):772-9.
- 60. Manns M, Samuel D, Gane EJ, Mutimer D, McCaughan G, Buti M, et al. Ledipasvir and sofosbuvir plus ribavirin in patients with genotype 1 or 4 hepatitis C virus infection and advanced liver disease: a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial.Lancet Infect Diseases. 2016;16(6):685-697.
- 61. Curry MP, Forns X, Chung RT, Terrault NA, Brown, Jr. RS, Fenkel JM, et al. Sofosbuvir and ribavirin prevent recurrence of HCV infection after liver transplantation: an open-label study. Gastroenterology. 2015;148(1):100-107.

- 62. Charlton MR, Gane EJ, Manns MP, Brown, Jr. RS, Curry MP, Kwo PY, et al. Sofosbuvir and ribavirin for treatment of compensated recurrent hepatitis C virus infection after liver transplantation. Gastroenterology. 2015;148(1):108-117.
- 63. Welzel TM, Petersen J, Herzer K, Ferenci P, Gschwantler M, Wedemeyer H, et al. Daclatasvir plus sofosbuvir, with or without ribavirin, achieved high sustained virological response rates in patients with HCV infection and advanced liver disease in a real-world cohort. Gut. 2016 Nov; 65(11): 1861–1870.
- 64. Belli LS, Berenguer M, Cortesi PA, Strazzabosco M, Rockenschaub S-R, Martini S, et al. Delisting of liver transplant candidates with chronic hepatitis C after viral eradication: A European study. Journal of Hepatology. 2016;65(3):524 531.
- 65. Naimark, D.M.J., M. Bott, and M. Krahn, The half-cycle correction explained: two alternative pedagogical approaches. Medical decision making: an international journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making, 2008. 28(5): p. 706.
- 66. Cost-Benefit Analysis. The Norwegian Ministry of Finance Official Norwegian Reports NOU 2012:16.
- 67. The Norwegian Medicine Agency. Guidelines for pharmacovigilance analyses [in Norwegian]. Helsedirektoratet. The NoMA. 2012.
- 68. Foss P. The pharmaceutical industry's views on economics [in Norwegian]. Dagens Medisin Arena. 2016.
- 69. Neumann, P.J., et al. Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine. 2016: Oxford University Press.
- 70. Campbell, J.D., et al. Cost-Effectiveness Uncertainty Analysis Methods. Medical Decision Making, 2015. **35**(5): 596-607.
- 71. Briggs M Andrew Claxton, Karl Sculpher. Decision Modelling for Health Economic Evaluation. Oxford University Press; 2006.
- 72. McCullagh L, Walsh1 C, Barry M. Value-of-Information Analysis to Reduce Decision Uncertainty Associated with the Choice of Thromboprophylaxis after Total Hip Replacement in the Irish Healthcare Setting. Pharmacoeconomics 2012; 30 (10): 941-959.
- 73. Normal tariff for general practitioners and emergency medical services 2013 2014 [in Norwegian]. The Norwegian Medical Association.
- 74. Cardoso AC, Moucari R, Figueiredo-Mendes C, Ripault MP, Giuily N, Castelnau C, et al. Impact of peginterferon and ribavirin therapy on hepatocellular carcinoma: incidence and survival in hepatitis C patients with advanced fibrosis. Journal of Hepatology. 2010;52(5):652-7.
- 75. van der Meer AJ, Veldt BJ, Feld JJ, et al. Association between sustained virological response and all-cause mortality among patients with chronic hepatitis C and advanced hepatic fibrosis. JAMA 2012; 308:2584–93.
- 76. Bruno S, Silini E, Crosignani A, et al. Hepatitis C virus genotypes and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: a prospective study. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md) 1997;25:754–8.
- 77. Planas R, Balleste B, Alvarez MA, et al. Natural history of decompensated hepatitis C virus-related cirrhosis: a study of 200 patients. Journal of Hepatology. 2004; 40:823–30.
- 78. Thuluvath PJ, Guidinger MK, Fung JJ, et al. Liver transplantation in the United States, 1999-2008. American Journal of Transplantation. 2010; 10:1003–19.

- 79. Davis GL, Alter MJ, El-Serag H, et al. Aging of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-infected persons in the United States: a multiple cohort model of HCV prevalence and disease progression. Gastroenterology 2010;138:513–21.
- 80. Lang K, Danchenko N, Gondek K, et al. The burden of illness associated with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Journal of Hepatology. 2009;50:89–99.
- 81. Fattovich G, Giustina G, Degos F, et al. Morbidity and mortality in compensated cirrhosis type C: a retrospective follow-up study of 384 patients. Gastroenterology 1997;112:463–72.
- 82. Wolfe RA, Roys EC, Merion RM. Trends in organ donation and transplantation in the United States, 1999-2008. American Journal of Transplantation. 2010;10:961–72.
- 83. Open and fair Priorities in the health service [in Norwegian]. Helsedepartementet. [Cited November 1, 2017] 2014:12. p. 1-220. Available from: https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/16a0834c9c3e43fab452ae1b6d8cd3f6/no/pdfs/nou2014 20140012000dddpdfs.pdf
- 84. Brazier J, Ratcliffe J, Saloman J, Tsuchiya A. Measuring and valuing health benefits for economic evaluation. 2007, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 85. Wright M, Grieve R, Roberts J, et al. Health benefits of antiviral therapy for mild chronic hepatitis C: Randomized controlled trial and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assessment. 2006;10.
- 86. Ratcliffe J, Longworth L, Young T, Bryan S, Burroughs A, Buxton M, et al. Assessing health-related quality of life pre- and post-liver transplantation: a prospective multicenter study. Liver Transplantation. 2002;8(3):263-70.
- 87. Sullivan PW, Ghushchyan V. Preference-based EQ-5D index scores for chronic conditions in the United States. Medical Decision Making. 2006;26:410-20.
- 88. Statistics Banks from the National Institute of Health. Available from: <u>http://statistikkbank.fhi.no/webview/</u>
- 89. The Norwegian Directorate of Health. The rules for performance-based funding scheme 2014. [Regelverket for innsatsstyrt finansiering, ISF]. IS-2162.2013:12. Available from: https://helsedirektoratet.no/finansieringsordninger/innsatsstyrt-finansiering-isf-og-drg-systemet/innsatsstyrt-finansiering-isf#regelverk-isf-2016
- 90. Younossi ZM, Park H, Saab S, Ahmed A, Dieterich D, Gordon SC. Cost-effectiveness of all-oral ledipasvir/sofosbuvir regimens in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection. Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2015 Mar;41(6):544-63.
- 91. Sullivan SD, Mauskopf JA, Augustovski F, et al. Budget impact analysis-principles of good practice: report of the ISPOR 2012 Budget Impact Analysis Good Practice II Task Force. Value Health 2014; 17: 5-141.
- 92. Chahal H, Elliot A. Marseille, Tice J, Pearson S, Ollendorf D, Fox R, Kahn J. Cost-effectiveness of Early Treatment of Hepatitis C Virus Genotype 1 by Stage of Liver Fibrosis in a US Treatment-Naive Population. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2016; 176(1):65-73.
- 93. The Magnussen group. Severity of illness and priority setting in Norway [<u>På ramme alvor</u> <u>- Alvorlighet og prioritering</u>"]. 2015. Available from: <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/pa-ramme-alvor/id2460080/</u>

- 94. Buti M, Domínguez-Hernández R, Oyagüez I, Casado MA, Esteban R. Cost-effectiveness analysis of ledipasvir/sofosbuvir in patients with chronic hepatitis C: Treatment of patients with absence or mild fibrosis compared to patients with advanced fibrosis. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. 2017; 00:1–9.
- 95. Solinís RN, Ugarte PA, Rojo A, Sanchez Gonzalez Y. Value of Treating All Stages of Chronic Hepatitis C: A Comprehensive Review of Clinical and Economic Evidence. Infectious diseases and therapy. 2016 Dec; 5(4): 491–508.
- 96. Zeuzem S, Ghalib R, Reddy KR, Pockros P, Ari ZB, Zhao Y, et al. Grazoprevir-elbasvir combination Therapy for treatment-naïve cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1, 4, 6 infection: A randomized trial. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2015;163(1):1-13.
Appendices

Parameters	Probability	Range	Distribution	Source			
Fibrosis progression							
F0 to F1	0.117	0.1053 - 0.1287	Dirichlet	[18]			
F1 to F2	0.085	0.0765 - 0.0935	Dirichlet				
F2 to F3	0.12	0.108 - 0.132	Dirichlet				
F3 to F4 (CC)	0.116	0.1044 - 0.1276	Dirichlet				
Reinfection	·						
SVR F0-F3 to F0-F3	0.047	0.423 - 0.0517	Dirichlet	[57]			
SVR F4 to F4	0.047	0.423 - 0.0517	Dirichlet	[57]			
Cirrhosis progression							
F4 to DC	0.029	0.018 - 0.022	Dirichlet	[57]			
F4 to HCC	0.028	0.0252 - 0.0308	Dirichlet				
SVR F4 to DC	0.008	0.0072 - 0.0088	Dirichlet	[74]			
SVR F4 to HCC	0.005	0.0045 - 0.0055	Dirichlet	[75, 76]			
DC to HCC	0.068	0.0612 - 0.0748	Dirichlet	[77]			
DC to LT	0.023	0.0207 - 0.0253	Dirichlet	[78-80]			
HCC to LT	0.04	0.036 - 0.044	Dirichlet				
Probability of liver-related death							
DC to liver-related	0.126	0.1134 - 0.1386	Dirichlet	[77, 81]			
death							
HCC to liver-related	0.427	0.3843 - 0.4697	Dirichlet	[77, 81]			
death							
LT to liver-related	0.166	0.1494 - 0.1826	Beta	[82]			
death							
PLT to liver-related	0.044	0.0396 - 0.0484	Dirichlet				
death							

Appendix 1. Base case transition probabilities of the HCV mono-infected patients

No fibrosis (F0), Portal fibrosis without septa (F1), portal fibrosis with new septa (F2), portal fibrosis with numerous septa without cirrhosis (F3), compensated cirrhosis (F4), decompensated cirrhosis (DC), liver cancer or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), Liver transplant (LT), post-liver transplant or subsequent years (PLT), liver-related death (LV-death), death from all other causes (All-cause death), sustained virologic response (SVR)

Appendix 2. Cost information, estimated average number of consultations, admissions and lab packages, depending on stage of the liver disease. Based on published literature and conversations with experts and the information from the available sources. [47]

	Health state							
	F0-	F2-						SVR
Unit of costs	F1	F3	F4	DC	HCC	LT	PLT	F4
GP	4.5	4.5	5.5	5.5	5	10	18	2
Clinical consultation	ons							
DRG 907A	4.5	4.5	10					
DRG 856G					12			
DRG 907O				9		10	2.5	
Hospitalizations								
DRG 199					1			
DRG 202				3.5		1	2	
DRG 203					2			
DRG 480						1		
DRG 4800						1		
Laborytory test								
Test with RNA	2	3	5	2	2	1	1	1
Test w/o RNA		3	5	5	5	1	1	1
Ultras. Of bile								
ways			1	1				
Gastroendoscopy			0.5	0.5				
Ascites-tapping				0.5				

Appendix 3. Unit costs.

	DRG- weight	Price.					
	*	NOK	Comments	Reference			
GP (General practitione r)		335,00	Consultation NOK 142 (2 ad), additionally to general practitioner NOK 91 (2 dd), capitation fee (takes 4 consultations per year per patient NOK 407/4)	[73]			
Clinical							
DRG 907A	0.037	1 510	Clinical consultation regarding hepatitis and other non-malignant liver disorders				
DRG 856G	0.190	7 750	Clinical drug treatment of liver, biliary and pancreatic cancer				
DKG 9070	0.067	2 730	diseases of liver and bile ducts				
Hospitalizat	tions	2750	diseases of fiver and one ducts				
1105pttutt,ut			Diagnosis on the liver / bile ducts /				
DRG 199	3.777	154000	pancreas with malignant tumor				
DRG 202	1.533	62 503	Cirrhosis and alcoholic liver disease				
DRG 203	1.218	49 660	Malignant tumors in the liver / bile ducts & pancreas				
DRG 480	26.315	1 072 915	Liver transplantation				
DRG	13.15		Liver transplantation, in/patient				
480O	8	536 478	surgical treatment	-			
d of bile ducts		135					
DRG 7110	0.038	1 550	Gastroendoscopy Gastroenterological abdominal				
DRG806P	0.044	1 794	procedure				
Laboratory	tests			1			
Test with							
RNA		2 368		-			
Test w/o RNA		60		-			

Type of	HELF	Estimate	Codes	Lab-	Lab-package
test	0	d costs		package	with RNA
				with RNA	
HCV AB ⁴	22	55	704e	55	
HCV RNA	390	975	701	975	
PCR,			b,c,e,g		
qualitativ ⁵					
HCV RNA	390	975	701	975	
PCR ⁶			b,c,e,g		
HCV Ig	121	302,5	704q	302,5	
RecomLin					
e ⁷					
ASAT ⁸	4	10	707a	10	10
ALAT ⁹	4	10	707a	10	10
INR ¹⁰	4	10	707a	10	10
Bilirubin ¹¹	4	10	707a	10	10
Albumin ¹²	4	10	707a	10	10
Blod	4	10	707a	10	10
plateletes ¹³					
TOTAL				2 368	60

Appendix 4. Costs per lab-test (NOK) [71]

⁹ ALT (Alanine amino transferase) Determined to assess the degree of liver disease

¹⁰ International normalized ratio (INR) is blood-clotting test. It is a test used to measure how quickly your blood forms a clot, compared with normal clotting time.

⁴ The most common test for HCV looks for antibodies in the blood that are produced in response to an HCV infection

⁵ HCV-RNA qualitative test confirms active HCV infection at trial time

⁶ HCV RNA PCR quantitative test - measures the amount of hepatitis C virus in the blood

 $^{^7}$ Strip-Immunoassay with antigens produced by recombinant techniques for the detection of IgG antibodies against HCV

⁸ AST (Aspartate amino transferase) Determined to assess the degree of liver disease

¹¹ Bilirubin is a yellowish substance that is created by the breakdown (destruction) of hemoglobin, a major component of red blood cells.

¹² Albumin is a protein made by the liver. Albumin prevents fluid from leaking out of blood vessels into tissues.

¹³ Platelets are cells that help the blood to form clots. The platelet number or "platelet count" in the blood is measured as part of the complete blood count (CBC).

Therapy	Drug	Cost per pack (NOK)	Unit dose	Quant ity per pack	Recommende d dose	Weekl y cost (NOK)	Source
DAA treat	ment						
EBR/GZ	Zepatier	172 010	100/5	28	100/50 per	43 002	Felleskatalogen
R	©		0 mg		day (1 tablet)		
LDV/SO	Harvoni	176 781	90	28	90/400 per	44 195	
F			mg/40		day (1 tablet)		
			0 mg		-		
Old standard treatment							
RBV	Ribavirin	2 937	200	112	1000 mg for	867	Felleskatalogen
			mg		body weight		_
			_		$\leq 75 \text{ kg}$		
					(assumed)		
PEG-	Pegasys	8 2 2 6	180	4*180	180 mg per	8 2 2 6	
INFalfa			mg	mg	week		
2a			-	-			

Appendix	5.	Treatment unit costs.	
----------	----	-----------------------	--